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fiathan Reich Side 1 000 Dal L, Brown

LB You realize that thig, we hope, will go into the library st Union Gollie;
for a kind of memory bank of cassettes. Hould youlell fTor the tape, wool
you give us your name,

NR Reich (Nathan)

IB  And where were you born?

NR I was born in a village called Terszow, The nearest ftowa or shietel was ohoul
a mile away and it was called, In Polish it was called, Stary Sambor., Sliry

means old. So the Yiddish name was Altshtut. Altshiut. Stary Loy ol

town, low when,,.why it developed that way, why the Jewish name or the (itlish
name was different from formal name, I don't know, It may well be that Liw
«sebefore it was called Sawmbor it was called means bas,

It was called Stary ¢ the old town. And the Yiddish translation waso
Altshtut, The Jews being very traditional and slow in changing stuck to ik
old name and only for purposes of, official purposes, maliling, school, resis-
tration and se¢ on, they used the Polish name, Stary Sambor.

LB How at the time,,.You were born in what yeanr?

NR T was born June 6, 1900, At the turn of the century,

LB And at that {time was this part of hustria Hungary?

NR It was part of Aastrias Hungary,

LB  Now what was tﬁe nearest big city? I'm looking for a map too,

NR Well it depends on how you define a big city,

LB You define it,

KR The nearest, Stary Samboxr was the nearest town. So we went 1o school, the elimen-
tary school and the cheder in Altshtub, And we didn't walk every day to school,
we went Sunday to town, boarded with the rebbe in cheder. There were thras
brothers in roughly in the same.,.,l was, I started chedecr at the age of thves
and the other brother was five and one was seven, Three, five, seven, 3¢ ua
went and we slept at the cheder, The classroom was converted at night 1o a
dormitory, And we brought evéry Sunday, woe brouwrht come food, Regs, butiner,

and chicken occasionally and the rebblizin cooked Tor us., and we palid, ry
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1B

NR

LB

NR

NR

father paid tuition, You see that included probably alsc some compensabion
for ,.,Friday, we came home for Shabbos, That was the nearest town, Our mail
was there and all/igﬁizits...for a time, the shul that my father and we a0ni
to Shabhos, davening, was in that little town and that's a very interesting
question, because 1t was beyond the legal limits, See Jews may not walk on
the Shabbos for moxe than some distance, So we had to have a

we had to resort to legal fiction where you,..

Say that again, That word I don®t know,

Hnrev.,

Erev Is evening,

Brev is evening, But this is not...no, this is, is a symbnlic,
well it 1s a, it designates a certalin symbolic function which enables you to
walk on Shabbos a longer distance, If you're interested, I['1ll explain it, tie
details,

Yes,

You may not walk on Shabbos for more than a certain distance, iwo thousand yirds,
I don't know exactly what the distance is, Now our home was a greater dislance,,.
the distance between cuxr home and the shul where we went (o daven was wore than
the legal limit, Now, this prohibition did not apply to shorter distances,

So for a time,fuhat Jews did they actually, Friday, they moved over to town ,
slept there, went to shul, spent there the day and aftecr dark or Sunday norie-
ing, they went home, #nd this was done, not only in our family, but it was a
very tedious business, You cannot move every Friday, taking care of the houm:,
taking care of this, and children and that was true of courss in pbobally,

of other Jews in previous generatlions when they were scattered, they face:

that problem, How you had a choice, Elther stay away Shabbos fromminyan,

which is not a sin, but it's not proper or solve that difficulty, The difficuits
was solved by symbolic moving, Suppose you move your house closer, On Frilay

you move your home s¢ you live closer to the shul, tc¢ break that barrier.

Well, whal constitutes moving? Well, you can move, you can move all the furnitiec,

' . - ; B 1 LI
but when you can move only a bed, that constltutes woving. One thing, 1t%:
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not comfortable to take, Friday, io take a hed and put it somewhere in he-

tween,,.well, you move a part of your food. Suppose you move & challal =l
50 on, Well, Finally the thing was reduced, moving symholically a bit i oadi
and o bit of pepper, wrsp it up in a plece of paper and friday, and 1 :in
to do it when T was a kid, my nother used to send me, or my older broti.:rs
before, Friday you deposited it underx or a stone, on the road, 'ail-
way beiween your home and the shul, That constituted a symbolic move, o,
according to the tradition or Law, I don't know if it was really & law, you
could move moxre, youw could walk around for more, Jonger distances in 4iffov-
ent directions but not in any one direction, You could walk on Shabbos mors
thar the legal limit, half of it this way, half of it this way, half o it
this way, half of it thls way...

LB But the total had to be the same,

But
NR No, the total could be more,/the direction, you see, How there was,,,you

couldn't walk in any one direction more than the distance from your hote,
But you could valk around, for instance, on Shabbos, in a little town, you
could walk to neighbors and walk to visii, but as long as any one diveciicn
of walking d%§ not exceed the legal limit,

LB That's why they make such good lawyers,

NR Yes, So on Friday we used to deposit, now why salt and peper? I used to aik
my father. Why not a challah? A dog way find it and run away with it,
even a peasant may pick it up, Salt and pepper, nohody, not.even an aninai.. .
because that had to be there, You had to be sure that this/i;ere for tine
duration of the Shabbos,

LB VWould you check it then before,s.?

NR VNo, No, It became just a ritual, almost a

LB HNow what was the name of this?

NR Erev,

IB  Bpell 1% in Yiddish,



Nathan Zeich Side 1 110 Dol i

NR Byin, Raish, Bet, Now, came Saturday morning, Shabbos in der free, we walixd

frm our home to our new home,Thitwas o0li right, And our new home was the

place wheve this little thing was deposited, And then, from there, the oihor

direction, was the shul, That was all right. On the way back, the same, s

that made it possible for us to get the benefit of Shabhos prayer,..in nibual,
1B At home, really and cheder in this other place,

NR Cheder was a different story. Cheder you know was only during the week, And
Sunday mornings, I fold you, Sunday mornings we went to town, took some {uc
along, elther walked or we often had the chance, somebody, some peasant was
driving by so that he gave us a ride, Like you have here in cars, what do
you call it...

LB A hiteh,

we

NE A hitch, And/bame Sunday afternoon or noon, to the rebhe, and we stayed there

'gg overnight and we attended the cheder and when I was six, we, when we renclicd
the age of six we had to attend public school, from eighi to one or two, we
attended public school and came back to the cheder. And slept there, for tie
night, That was our nearest town,

LB Now wait a mifiute, I want to ask you something first...I want to be sure uncre
this is, Were you in Galicia?

HNR Yes,

LB OCh, Where were you on this map?

in Austria
NR Iemberg was the capital city of Galieia, Gelicia had,/some of the parts of
R

.)f% Austria had a parliément. Czechoslovakia, Slovakia, Ozech, Bohemia, Hunsary
' and so on,
" LB Hungary would certainly bave a p:ﬁ].ia.ment
KR Hungary was still a monaxchy,
g@ LB Well, 1'm also learning my history as I go along, But this story I never heaxd

before,

NR Ve were just abowt here, Between Lemhery and the Slovakian border., The Slovakian
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border would be about here, I know because I smiggled the border here whim
I was jaliled hexe in 1919,

1B You were, ¥ m.v have tc talk to you more than once,

NR For itwo or three days,

LB Now, was this a Hasidic town?

NR Well, there were Hasldim in fown but there was no such thing as an all Ti:li«ic
town and ali non-Hasidic,

LB Was your father a Hasid?

NR HMMM, Well, my grandfather, thal®s my fathexr's father was a very ardent Falrex

Hasid. You know, you've heand of Beiz, He died two years before I was two,

I didn*t know him,

LB And your father?

NR MWy father started out with this tradition but the Belzer dynasty, oxr the Salocy
tradition was too rigid, ascetic, And they really imposed a great discijlire,
Live simply, fasilng often, studying all day long and se on, My fabher wu
more attracted since he began belng skeptical of that kasidim, but he did it
in stages, so he was more attracted to the dynasty which was called the
Righinover dynqsty. Rizhinover.

LB Rizhin?

NR Rizhin,

LB Is that from the town of Rizhin?

NRE Ii's called the Rizhinover dynasty.

LB I don't know that one, I never heard that one,

NR They came, and of course they were in Russic originally, but then as they i
s0ons, each son established a little dynasty...at that time hern wny
a town in Bukhovina, which was also a province of Austria, and that was
called Sadagura,

LB But they're here now, aren't they?

NR That's right! That's right. Now, the Sodagura,; one of the grafldchildren of
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the Rizhinover, Freldman was their name, established L court, a hof, w: uay,
and they lived very princely, Beaubiful dress, they dressed, They culttvaied
the arits, They played the violin, The women were very beautiful, beautifuily
dressed and they were driving in You know what i Y
Md so that my father switched to the Sadagura, for this reason, beeanse ‘he

nodernity appealed to him,

Now they've switched back,

NR And secondly, Yes, the Sdagura are still,,,X don't know what, here, I 4idn't

Ay _":_-‘.q’ v
VR
Ul

1B
LB
NR
LB
NR
\c,\}f

LB
NR
LB

NR

follow, And then secondly he was,..we lived in this village, This villoo sas

in the foothills of the Carpathian mountains, And was used as a sort o ar

informal place where Jews came from fown for the summer, Zummerfrishen. rdoosoix

luf't, And they rented a peasant®s home or in a Jewish home, There was nobbing

elaborate here as is here in a summer resort, 4nd the custom developed, . don’

know . when; since my earllest childhood, that for every summer, one of the

rabbinical, one of the rabhis came to spend the eight weeks, two monih.

From the Rizhbnover...
From the Sadaguress
Irom the Sadagura,

Iater on others, Iecause there were Sadagura and Chortkover,..the Rizhidnover

dynasty spread out, ¥ach time they had six children, they had to have ulx

rabbinical courts, AnR they called it a hof, A court. referral o

the Belzer hof, Because the Belzer people lived very =simply, But the Zilarurn

lived in a court, in a big house with servanis,..So this rabbi used to st
himself and every Satuwrdy, of course, you

You know whal means?

That’s when everybody would gather around,
No, No, Not everybedy, Just the men,
A1 right, Excuse me,

And after the service on Shabbos, you sit at long tables and the rabbl presiders

a3
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reads Torah, he meditates, and sometimes

and so we used to attend it,..

You did,
Of course, Of course to me it was a lark., There used to come five, six bunsired
Basidim for Shabbos, It used to be black you know, Hasidim are dressed in

black, The Poles, the peasants used to say thet the

Black rebbes,

The black death,
Ch igess
Morovye is...

Ch, morovye,

That's in a.,.not in a,/igmething comes, since they have some suspicion
of these people And so my father used to attend it tco znd
some of our relatives camre who were dévoted Hasidim, came Shabbos and they
stayed with us, p

wa would they held this table, Saturday night, at your home?
Ne, no, A big tent or barn, Big tent, we couldn®t hold several hundred people,
Of course they used to come Friday afternoon, they began coming, carriac-,

walking and by train, And sometimes we had three four hundred,; five hundrad

people,
That would be in the town, you're talking about,
No,
/That was in T.erszow Spas +In our village and in the adjoir *ng

village, The two villages combined, The rallroad station was for both ¥illoges,
Terszou --3pas,

Spas 1s the other town?

The other village, Village not a town, you see, Terszow-Spase

How do you spell the Spas?

Spas, And Spas used to draw more people because they had a little forest, a

P D Pt N PP
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little woods where the people,,.,and from time to time pedple came for cumo,

For tupercular people, Tresh air and good food,,.

IB There was one town that a Galician told me was...he lived near the Caroaliiaic
also, There was this beauliful town, he said people came from all over,

NR Kranitsa,

LB That's it,

NR Bure, That was far away,., #lso in the Carpathian mountatins but in the wecst,
Kranitsa would be somewhere around,,.near Cracow, south of Cracow, And o
this was the town,,.

LB How many people, Jewish families lived in your town?

NR Well, I really don't know but I would say no more than about two hundred,

LB It was a small one.

NR Very small,

29 IB And around you, you would have peasants,,,

NR Villages, villages and all of them, the overwhelming majority of the people
in the villages were Ukrainians, or Little Russians as they called them.,
Before Ukrainian, gUkrainian Hatlonalism ls relatively new development, bHe-
cause some of them called themselves Little Russians, But then they becaie
nationalist and the Ukrainian became o language and they began to insist on
. s s thec schools and Ukrainian was a legitimate subjeci, regular subject o
the curriculum and in our village there were about a hundred and forty honen,
I happen to remember the figure exactly because during the war years...

1B The first war,

NR The first war, around 1915, 1916, my father was, he was nooneabir
in the village council, He had certain...

LB You mean like a kehilla?

gg NR No, Kehilla was in towns, There were not enough Jews for a kehilla, Therv acre

only about six Jewlsh families, in the village, ocut of one hundred and foriy,

LB Then I'm confused, In your town, in’ierszow, right, this was a village,
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NR Don*t call it town!

IB No, don't call it town, Right. In your village, how many Jewish families cvzre
iNdee

NR Bix.

LB Six,

KR That'’s right. And therefore we had to..,.we didn't have a shuwl, even, in our
town, That'®s why we had to go down to town on Shabbos, There were not « iUzt
Jews for a shul,

LB So where did you go now? You went to...

HR Altshiut,

IB  Alishtut for your shul, And now where were these two hudred familics bieb oo
were talklng about?

NR T Altshtut!

LB That's where there were two hundred Jewish families,

WR That's right,

LB 0.X, In yoursythere were only six,

NR Apout six, Maybe six, seven, It varies, And there were about three, four
Polish families, And about two or three German families, Sometimes refirua
civil servants, Many of the civil servants In Austria, some, at the besirviy:
most of them were Germans, but then the Poles acquired certain rights ant +he
Ukrainians and the « But there weremstill some, g0 a few upoa metion.
ment, stayed on. And they bought a 1little house in the village in the mzal
area and they lived their lives there, We had about tow or three Germin
families, six or seven Jewish families and the rest were Ukrainians, They

viere Greeck Cathelics, kot Greek Orthedox,

IB Is that Uniate?

NR Uniates, That's exactly what they were, Uniates.
Now our village is s part of Russia, western Ukraine, I was there in 1970,

vislting,
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L3 It's gone throvgh so many different stages since that time,

NR That's rxight, When I was born I was an Austro-Hungarian citizen, Then inv
gix months I was a Ukralnian, western Ukrainian citizen. The Poles kici-o cuk

“the western Ukrainians then I became a Polish citizen, from 1919 to, well, io

1930, But in 1923, in 1922, I left for Canada. And then in 1927 to the o’ Ll
States, I became a Canadian citizen and then an American citiéen. That's Tive
citizenships,

LB And if you were there now, you'd be a Soviet citizen,
NR T would be again a Soviet citizen, that's right,

LB That was in 1939, then, And even after that it went back and forth a fex:

tLimes,
NR Well, the Germans,..they Jjust covered the area during the war, when they altscioc
when they invaded Russia, they occupied, of course, that part, But for - iLime

in 1939 to 194Y, we were a part of the Soviet Union, In the Soviet Union as

far as governing the area, And then the Germans invaded the Soviet Uhicrar
within tWO{M:%hree days, we were right near the border our area
nost of my people were killed by the Nazis in the Holocaust, My mother, =
'sister, a brother only two people survived, Cne, a nephew whio

came Jjust in the nick of ime, in 1939 as an immigrent to Canada, He served in
the Polish Army and after his service they let him go., And ancthexr nephiow conw
in 1935 and then a third niece actually survived the Holocaust, She wais in
hiding for two years in Dragovich. She got out of hiding. She got into con-
tact with us, She had our . address,.,.

IB In Dragovich?

HR IDragovich, In Dragovich,

LB Tt's not on here (the map) but it was mentioned by somebody else.

NR 4nd the Yiddish word was Druvich,
IB Druvich,,,How, tell me something, what dld your father do? There six Jewioh

families in this little village and what 4id he do?
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NR My father married into this village, into the family of my mother's, My
\% mother®s Tather, my grandfather on my mother's side, had a farm, So thio
was one part of the business, But not the only one, Yy father married int:,

he was & clty fellow.

IB Your father was a clty fellow,

NR Well, from that town, you kner, Not from a metropolis but from Alishtut,

IB Chy I see,

NR There was a shadchan, and he had no zest for farming. Neither did I althonge
I mikel cows a little on vacation, helped out, My mother ran the farm aacl
had three sisters. When they grew up they on the farm, my molive o

the two sisters, Wy father just looked around for other business, They ool

a ghek, do you know what a ghek is? The right to sell liguor. That was 1leanm - |
because liquor was a goverument monopoly, It was a source of income ani ~luo

a source of bribexy for officials because you had to psy to get one, Than

he had the excluslve right, which he got from hig father-in-law--he had i,
the right to sell tobacco, a tobacco shop,

IB That was also é?government monopoly? Wasn®t it?
L

NR That was also a government monoply, yes, BEvery week we had to go to tows aidd
the wholesaler in that town, also he was the exclusive wholesaler and 2 div.
tributed,..frem him you got the supplies of tohacco, cigarettes and so =, I'n
mentioning it now because last Sunday I altended a meeting of the Femewillon
of ¥olish Jews, And in the audience I met a man who was introduced to i, Eé
was the grandson of that chief wholesaler, He was a colonel in the Polii
ATV 5 o o

LB Ha vas a Jew? And a colonel in the Blish Army?

NR Oh yes, There were, in the Polish Army, Mnd he survived the Holocauswh, J Lhind:

he was in Russia, he fied or,,,and then he was in the Communisl Pelish 4wy

i

and he was emerited, sent on pension two years ago and he came to this

country, Aod he recelved a Polish pension, I didn't know him, I koew hix:
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Tather, His grandfather was the supplier & tobacco, from hig grandfather |

used to, from time to time 25 I grew up to be eleven, twelve, my father
1o send me to get some supplies for the week or for the .
knew the grandfather, FFeivel Volvolt, tis son was Avruwnchil,
_ toe take
He used to go to cheder with me, to school and even attempted/éymnaziuw DL
he falled # There were very few people, Jewlsh people, i: ouv
whele towm of those two hundred families only about three who went 4o - vivoai o

ot
'

Becouse gymnasium was nol meddatory, Elementary school wasz mandatory.
difficult to gzet in and you had to go through tests and so on, But he @
and he Just,,.a drop out, 4nd he is the son of this Avvumchik,

LB 30 your father had two businesses so far.

HR There'’s more, Wait! Iy father was an ambitlousmn but sometimes his ambi®ic:
his, his endurance and his application and so on, his stick-to-itivenen: inll

short of his ambition, So he tried this and tried that, And on the whole e win

sometimes successful, Then he was ambitious enouzh to secure, with a pasiiek,
an exclusive Wholesale right to sell liguoxr, in anotho< region, kot in oucs,
In our region that was already In the hands of & famlly, lom,, And thcy ad
it; you know, nobody could budge them,

LB But you said, he was selling liguor,

NR Retall, But the real money was when you got the monopoly for the whole v ! 4.,
Nt then everybody had to buy from here,,,.

LB Then you'd be the distributor,

NR That's right. Like the And he got it in a town callod
Uhneie, I think. And it appeared to be a very successful and = v
richest
promising, JIf you gol that like thls man, th)/ family in o
town was Lom, Occasionally, of course, he went o Jjail foo becauss he @m': vl

At

the,,,well like Bergman here {referring %o ithe nursing home scandals in %, Y. 5)

They used hrlbery and,,.Ab any rate he served his jail hontence but he wog

greeted as a hero anyway by the Jous when he came back from prison, They bl
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LB

MR

NR

NR
iB

NR

a parede for him and a band of music and seomz of the Jewlsh young teen owioon
dressed up as Cossacks on horses and wenlt to the rai'road station to woit
hinm although he came from jail, From having served a jail sentence,
Well, was the jail sentence for not having pald a bribe,..or you don*t inosr,
ﬁe didn't confide in me. Jail sentence 1s because hie probably tried to weiiw
somebody or he didn't report the right number of, the right amount of oo its
for he had to pay taxes, I don®t know. At any right, Lom, his son I thii rliuo
got into trouble as a diamond smuggler ...
Tt*'s like one of my people, one of the people I interviewed sald, Yhate..z bLhe
were doing, it was illegal,
Well, after all you couldn’t survive during that period, In Tact; in thin ccun -
try, if a union wants to slow wp werk, you go by the buok, You go by tiv: zule
Instead of a strike you go by the rules, We are so survoimded
by rules, you can't, it's worse even in other countries, It's Jjust forbrnate
in this country there's still a private sector which can escaps from goveri-
ment but cogntrles like Russia you can't do anything wibnout
breaking the law, Well, that's another story.
8¢ your father is in the retail liquor, He..,
He tried to,,.
To get the wholesale,
Not in our region, That was.,,and I don'*t know the details, If he borrou- oy
to Invest it, Tt looked fto be a very good business and hs had some
At any rate, he appointed a manager, because 1t was far awsy from howme, iy
father couldn't monage it. Al any rate, there wasg some enmbezzlement, soiw
fraud, They lost all the money, And T remember it, I was about eleven yo.rs
0old, or ten years old, I remember it well because, at home, reproaches, iniaci,,.
although mother was a very guiet woman and she was very passive and,,,t
nevertheless there were echoes, you know of this, The manager went to i1l

or to send him to jail or maybe he




Nathan Reich Side 1 507 peld

HR

NR

LB

NR

or maybe he shouldn'*t do it, a Jew; my Tather, kinder, At any ruoco
there was a whole tsumatochet D0 you know the word
No,

means excitement, It's a Yiddish word,
T know but I don't remember it from home, And believe me we had them, but wo
must have called them something else,
ind well he came out, he lost everything., And how they paid up his debts,
don' know, Then he had also, not all these things..,
(Tape ends)

8ide 2 000

A1l right, so he lost woney and there was a brouhaha,..

But meanwhile, it was never tragic in the sense we had a base, an econonls bamn:
About eighty percent of our need was supplied by the farm, vegtables, otz ihon;
chicken, e#ts, geese, The only thing we had teo buy occasionally, mhmeat. dJo hrui

cows, but cows only for milk, For giving milk, We had four cows you see. 5o

whatever he did, essen auf dem tish iz geven (there was food on the table]

So there was no problem, Rent, of course we owned the house, I was born in &
house which was bullt in the eighteenth century., One hundred fifty years old,
It was built by Radziwill, On the estate of Radzivill, Qur village, tho fendal
lord was Radziwill, Jacgueline's (Kennedy) sister's hushand's brother-in-law,
S0 all these things are taken care of., He could improvise and experiment it
all sorts of businesses, Onc of the businesses which he also built up, anc it
was geasopad bui it was sonetlimes very profitable and that is o buy us s
in the summer and put them in a basins with some water with some chemionl
treatment, we had no refrigeration in those days. Sc they had some che!icils
which kept the eggs from spoiling and they were locked up and sealed vy arowm!
beptember, several thousands and thousands of dozens of ezes and

then around December he used to go to Berlin and sell the ezgs and ther ship

them, And most of the time this was a very profitsble business because osen

o

y
u
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relatively
were pought up/ét a low price from the peasants in the summer, . po .t L
had no alternative and in the blg city, egas were of cowrr . -

gearcity, a scarce item, And theu I remember he used to have these bao -
and on the top of the basins there was a sort of a warehouse and aroun:

3

December, Novembe%, they uvsed to hire a number of young Jewish men anc L.y
packed the eggs./igzied the eggs and each egg was o bte checked, you iuvic.
that it jsn't spoiled by looking at it through a lawp. And they were 7 i
cases and padded with straw they shouldn®t hreak, They were loaded on

train and shipped to Berlin, For the most part, this was a successful o .-z~
tion and he made enough money probably to pay for the whole year for wasl.oen:s

extra expenses we had, Sometimes they ended iragically bhecause they wors

frozen,

LB I was golng to say, not only the spolling but the freezing in Decenber. .,

HR

1B

MR

LB

NR

LB

NR

If we had a severe winter, during the trip, during the transport thatfs...
and then of course they were worth nothing and they lost usually that ,uviz?ts
crop of eggs...was lost, He had a partner, I remember his name was Ha .

IMOSt of the time I found oul ahout these things not by my father sittin: fown
with me and telling me about the business, indeed I wouldn't ask him =00 vy
wouldn't sit down with me but from the,..

The altercations? DBelween mother and father?

Well, altercations orxr celebrations or whatever, So if Manash came over, v iy
talked and my father told bim about his experience in Berlin and whep: o h»
yent to Berlin he put bis pais.., (behind his ears, under his hat)

He did wear pais,

Oh yes, And a beard too.Sure, I had pais until I went to gymnasium, 1t
only when I went to gymnasium.,,

See that's why when you said you weren't a Hasid T was golng to pursue thal,

He had pals, yes, But to come to Berlin, a big city, and he uswally wore a 10wy,

caftan but for Berlin trip he had a short caftan, And er hat zich ols.onutsth
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Und das berdel hat er oichet,..

IB Did he wear a shtremel?

NR Only Shabbos, Only Shabbos.,

LB Only Shabbos, So what did he wear to Berlin?

NR To Berlin he wore a ¢loth hat,

LB Did he look like a Hasid when he went to Balin?

KR Kommm, You see, here your people look like Hagidim, There there was nn vl
dEstinction, All Jews dressed like that. All frimer Yidden dressed like ‘ir.,

IB iMnd your father was a Frimer Yid then,

NR Well, he was,..1 had my suspicions about it but you couldn't help hu.
being frim in our town.

LB That's right,

NR Ispecially my father was 1in public life, For two years he was presidoni
of the kdfilla,coundil, which was a semi-official job and he had to live un
to 1t, He was in charge...he had to do with appointing rabbis if there wis o
vacancy or a hazan and so on, That too led to a lot of tension at home,

LB Was your mother more frim than your father?

NR HMother was sincere, My father was frim but ﬁe was & skeptic, you see,

And I'm sure, given a cha?ie, brought here, he would forget about the who'~
really

thing. Hy mother was/%ery frum, She was, she was illiterate in Polish !

she couldn't,,.and illiterate in Hebfew even, because madlach haben nisiii. e

gagen in cheder, (Little girls didn’t go to cheder.) But she prayed wha. sho

knew by heart, She fasted every fast day. And during, when the war broke onul,
she fasted every Monday to compel the Ioxd, to pray that the lord should loj;
this blood-lietting, For four years, Very strong, quiet, determined, honc:i,
sincere woman, My father was, he was very clever, very gnod sense of humor,

And he was,,.I suspect that he did not,

LB Was he a charmer?

NR With jokes, yes, Mnd, now, whatever I found sutl about the tension, i1 wi..
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only through the impact on home life, I told you, he was for two years pront.
dent of the kehilla and that involved certain functions, The kehilla weo ocos -
nized by the Austrian government as a quasi public body, It had the risni o
levy taxes..,on the Jeuws, liow imagine, nobody likes & tax payer nor a iux
assessor, S0 as soon as the tax assesseents were nade, my Tather bore i
brunt., How, they were after him in town wheﬁ he went to town every day Lo
collect the mail, Most of his business was in town, But if they cowldn’™ .
him in town they tried, they tried to avoid him in town, they came cut i Lin
yillage.

LB HNow who's they? You mean those who collected taxes from him?

NR Whoever had business with him, Grievences werec two Fold, When ¥ou n.c o
the taxes and then you try to collect them, Some people,,.and they had Lo
right to colient by the force of law, And then he was s)s0,.,.bhad sowebi L o
do with determining the salaries paid to the shochet, to the hagan and ::o o,

TS

Whatever you paid, is not enough so they used 1o come ard bother him,

53

used to make noige and guarrel, And my mother didn't like,,.Vus darfb Qv us?

What do you need 1t for? Iy father liked koved (honor ) you know,,,

LB Who doesn*t?

NR Well, T don't know,..somne people more, And then, too, his amibition Lo Le
prominent did not, did not square with hls strength and determination, oo iang
s0xrt 0T 44

LB Did you love him?

NR WMy fathere,,.well,,,

LB #nat was your relationship? No, It's not & fair question, Like you :ay.
Do you love your mother? I don't get along with my molher bubt I love he oo
cause she's my mother, right?

HR Well, I got along with my mother. I had the highest ador.,.closer rc.alispehip
with my mother, I was the youngest first of all, Thea, even ln my youngor

days, I had really developed wore respect {or my mother because of her
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honesty, lutegrity and,..my father was, as I said, I wouldn®t say a wheeler-d - -

in this sense, but he shirked duties too easlly -eipecily in the sarly years. il o

ony he sort of changed. And..,so that was the relationship,

I3 Were you able to talk Lo him-or if you were to talk to someone, would you
to your mother tather than your father, or did you talk to your brothers rath:
than elther one?

NR Rather to mother,

LB Hather to mother,

NR And to the sisters, The slsters were older,..

LE VWould they be older than the pldest brother too?

NR Ko, My oldest brother, then there came twWo sisters and then the threc broti..:

L3 Two brothers? No. (ne brothor? Iwo sisters and then iwo brothers?

NR Two brothers and myself. Three,

‘LB 80 there were four brothers all tegether?

NR aFour brothers, Sixchildren, Four brothers and two sisters, But the one bros o

the oldest, was sort of removed from us by ten years, And he grow up as a Yesid s

bucher, He studied TAlmud, Very clever. Vexry bright, In his days there was no roawiohory

public school atiendance, And Jews did not send thelr kids ho schools, To Goy i

schules, as they say, until they had to, Because he didn't heve to sit without -
hat. He had the privilege of...but that of course, became the butt of all zori: oib
jokes from the Folish kids, the Ukralnian kids, We had a lot of,..80 and then, “oay
tavght, in Austria,..,.in Austrien schools religion was a required subject, Aush iz

’ Hungary was Catholle, So you came into a c¢lassroom, the first thing you saw is =

pleture of Chrlst on the wall, So the rebbe told us, Kedk nisbt! Don't look at it,

Secondly, every school day started with a prayer,

(Recites prpyer in Polish) I #till remember that and that was seventy years agc,
when 1 entered elementary school, So the frimer Yidden, they shied away from il,

You have to know, to learn to writc Polish and German, so you did it in cheder,
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Some of the rebhes in cheder put aside an hour or so, Or you did it with a ;-
%@ vate tutor, So my brother did not go to school, He had no secular schooling,

He went to cheder, From cheder to a highexr cheder to a Yeshiva dnd

studied Gemorra and when he was the age of elghteen he was the age, the shadiiwn

they
and the mechiten,/came and farherrt im der Torah,,.You know what farherren .o .7

LB Ne,

NR They gave hin a test. Yes,. That was a part of qualification as potential =na-
in~law, He had to pass the test in Hebrew learning if the mechutin wanted scouebanly
a son-in=law with, .if not, a scholar, And most rich Jews wanted at least one ...
in law to be a scholar, And the Yeshivas became, to a very large extent, matrimmnisl,.,

LB I was Just going to say,..That's the first time that occurred to me,,,They wore
like pathways to groomiom, Right?

NR They tell even a story, that a Litvak came to a Yeshiva and says I want a ‘oo,

E% Have ybu got & nice Yeshiva bucher for a son in law? Well, he must be,.,And i
showed hlim one and he tested him and talked to him,,. He was very choosy., Sc he

“gsked him, Listen, what kind of a dauvghter do you have, that you're so choos) ¥

A davghter? Who has a daughter? o what do you... Zul _er arum drein in aigen,

gelernter aigen, Ilet there be a learned son in the law in ths house, You didi:'l

need even a daughtex,

IB Now what kind of a Jjoke is this? Who tells 1t7? The Galicians?
NR Well, it makes no difference, Tt...Il heard it from a Litvak, It could be ..,

LB It could be a Litvisher joke too?

NR It could be, Well, at any rate, now where were we?

LB Well you were telling sort of the relatlonship between your father and you
nother,,.

NE Before that you wanted to knowabout his business, He developed another business
}9 but tnese were not at the same time necessarily, For instance, the egg businuss
strictly

was/seasonal, o, thres months and that was done mainly alter wy brother gol

older, We lived in an area where the lumber industry was very importamt, A loi of
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forests, saw mills and many Jews were engaged in selling lumber, buying lumber
from the peasants and from the You know what poritz is?

LB The poor,

HR ILandlords, no, no,

LB @h the poritz is a landlord?

Nit Porityz is a rich landlord, Pole, S0 uy brother got into this busniess, How,
don't know, And then they devcloped it. They built a lumber yaxrd arouad the 'wiie
and for a time my father was a pariner in a saw mill at any rate, so when I ...
already in Canada, afler we lelt, this became the main business of,,.

IB In Poland, you're saying now?

MR That's alreédy ¥oland.,

LB He was still,,,Now which brother was ¢his?

NR The oldest brother.

IB The oldest, The one that was Lhe Yeshiva bucher,

NR He got married and he, for two years he, er hat gepessen kest, Do you know uwhal

essen kest means?
IB No,
NR A part of the dowry was that the in law, the father in law, he would stay wilh
him,.,
LB You'd stay with your in laws,
KR In laws, for support, until you sort of, look around, find some,..
IB 0.K. I know the custom, I didn't know the.,,
NR Thiés is essen kest . %o he was there, Then the war broke out in 1914 and o Tled
Tled from,,,
1B Your family,
NR Family, That's right, To Budapest. And my brother was already, at that Li-c,

hat er gepessen kest,. He got married in 1912 and this was in 1914, He Tled iraon

another part,.And we found him later on, we got in touch after some months o) not

Y, 2 was and he didn y a ¢ Were ¢ was in Prague, He Ul L
knowing where he d he didn't know where we w . H s in Prague, He 1!
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Prague, After the war, he came back from Frague and he moved into our hous-,

LB Back in the village,

NR Yes. With his family, At that time he alsready had a son, The son is inc rowbuily

in Hontreal, And he developed that, together with father develpped that Iusri.. -
business, dnd when I came to visit them in 1933 and then in 1937, that's the 1t
visit, I was scheduled to visit them in 1940 but.,.You see we were thiae b 'l ow
in Montreal, We bad an arrangement that every two or three vears one goes i

the mrents and my turn would have been again in September 1941, but the war e
out and that's of course.,.S0, at that time, the Thirties, my brothers,..my

was already semi retired, There was a lunber business, But the farm was sti!: e
The farm went on,

IB Actually it was your mother's farm,

HR My mother's Farm,

IB And she ran the farm, Did she hire Pollish women to help her? Or Ukrainian:~

@ NR We had a maid to help, Asleep in maid, And only during the harvest and tiw: plow.
ing, for a day or two, you hired laborers, local laborers to do,,, but not sioeady,
The farm was not that large, I don't know, I doubt very much if it was more Lhen
ten acres, It was larger when my grandfather had 1t., But he had another dawgitor
s0it had to be divided, on his death,

LB This is your maternal grandfather,

NR Yes, My maternal grandfather and my maternal grandmother lived with ve, Tt i«
my father married into a house hwich was hls, later on we built another houe, ol
« oo the other sister married, also lived in the village, acwoss the road and ‘oo
husbhand, first husband, they had three daughters, The first husband died in &
cholera epidenic,

LB Was that during the war?®

NR Al the turn of the century,

LB 1900 you mean?
NR Before I was born, And then she remsrried and had three rore children and threy

had a grocery store. Right across and they inherited some of the land, But mb liedr

FHER
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sideline was a grocery store which was the size of this room perh&ps,..(ahJ N

and they were selling kerosene, salt and flour ocecasicnally, candy, rice ani v é
the parlt of the farm they inherited and her husband also developed a side . o af...
on Thursday, he had peasants catch fish in the rivers, you know, And frida; .o

he sold them in town. Fish af Shabbos, {Fish on the Zabhath)

LB Agtually your family was quite,..comfortable,

NRE Yes, In that viliage, my father and my uncle were probebly the well to 0 oy

plow the other Jewssh people were poorer, And they made a living, also every:. @ !
a bit of land,

IB They 4id,

HR Yes,

LB ¢ee, in the rest of Poland this wasft true, In Galieia it was more true,

NR Ygs. A bit of land, They had their own pobatoes, and vegetables and a cow il

had
chickens., They had side 1lines, Two were/wagons and they delivered goods, Trens-irted

goods, ln town you know,

LB But they weren't this kind of trager (carrier) (NMotions to shoulders) Teey wer:
this kind, (with a wagon) Not a shoulder trager,

FE Tragers were in town, In town we had tragers. They were the riff raflf,

LB You want to know something? Yhen my father escaped from Russia, and he wun o
young man,...he and my mother and sever oLhers...so he was held up in Bessaraioia
and the rest of the group went on ahead, At first he wouldn't tell us what b Gid,
And T said, What could you do, Pop? I mean, did you kill someoue? You know, I

couldn®t imagine what was it that he did, He was a vasser trager., (water carrizr;

And he didn't want us to know, In order to make money to centinue his trip to ine
+ United States,,.you know, to me this doesn't mean anything, Ah vasser trager., 5oy

you have to make money, but to him it was so bad,,.that sevonty, sixty yesrs laler

he couldn't tell me,
NR That’s right, Because our vasser trager was a retarded wan, Mentally retarde:,

He had to true vasser , (carry water) That was the lowest, Pecause they neec::d no
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1ntélligence whatsoever, except to go to the well, which i in a marked plac-,
%@ and then go from one to another until you're finished,
‘ 1B Ohhh,, I see,
NR Wolf, the vasser trager, Short and he was really, He couldn®t,..you could
hardly talk to him., He was the butt of all sorts of,,,
IB I understand now,
NR HNow the tragers,..the porters.,.they were smart, They had to hustle for 1 ai wos,
And that was also still very low, Ang occupation that called only upon physnio..
strength and exertion was considered low, Anything that rises from that leved
to the Talmud, Talmud ggggggm(wise one) his social prestige was in proportin - '
the distance from physical effort,
LB T see, I see,
NR You see, physical strength was,..l don't know how,,,You wanted to say, for ir-

stance to say something derogatory about, a man says grubbe yune,

1B  Ah grubbe yung, Right,
NAE TFat fellow, In" jthe; United Ztates itsthe opposite, you venerate physical sivungtiy
athletics, and so on, But we didn't, The Jewish term for being noble is ecii. 2

German term, Bdel, an edele mensch (a noble man)} When we saw somebody emaciatc

and on the verge of tuberculosis or what have you, it's an edel ah
pale, Emaciated, That was considered, because ‘that was assoclated with studyir.
all the time, #nd that was a completely, so alien to the West, Alien certainly
America, I remember it, I uesed to say, Ah, ah zah edele! And to ruwming, athl ' ox
That was not done, I told you that I started to go to cheder at the age of thr:
This was a very traumatic experience hecause I remember that the first wemory i
I have was standing in front of a little and crying the whole day., This mi. lhe

. of the rebbe, RBecavce noi orly did you have to go there for the day and °
the evening you run to mamg! But it was the whole week, So it was a great shocr o i,
But that doesn't cowt youn know, What counted is ihat at the age of three, me (dorf

shoin unhalben zu lernen (one should already begin to learn) and that whole.,.:
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nember once, 1 wag about six or seven and after the cheder was over, 1.
formal lessons were aver, All the kids wenit home, But we had to stay ble:ro,
We had no home to go, it's just we had to stay. So we ate

In the summer days, the day was long so there was still 1i::-1,

e

They let us play, The rebbe, Geht arols, Geht ¢ 50 I reneanbe, we ¢
a gane where you take'a, what do you call it, a top...
LB A hoop?

§ NR You, with a stick, you, like a, likea,.,.what shall I tell you? What's o lweus

LB A hoop 1s a thing like so (motions with hands) and circled, A round o :lo

NIt Yes, Yes, Well this is..,this is round, a big one and when you chased 1. ulin
a sticka...

IB Yes. That'’s a hoop, Right, Kids do i1 here too. We used to do it.

NR 8o I got out and we were not, the cheder was not far from the bath,

LB The mikveh you m=an,

NR 'The mikveh, the bath, Now a bather was not considered a very noble occiuiiine
either,

LB The one in.charge.,.

HR The one in charge of the bath, So that of course was transmitted to th:: idz,
Ah bather's ying (the young one) iz nisht geven,..{wss not so.,,) A i,.. he

was a nelghbor, So there was another kid, my age, and he had one and 1 o ons

and we chased it, And I naver expecled to meet my father because my fabli:o s
to come to town but around four, five o'clock he used Lo go hoo.
And this time he stayed, and it was about six thirty and there as T wa.

chasing this, my Tather comes, Ab Gemorrah bucher, ¥ started to learn Tuliui

at the age of six or seven, very early. Ah Gemorrah buchER UL 4RUM lciin vi:

ah shegetz! Ah shalipgetz, Shitutzim loifen arum, Ah Gemorrah bucher, mil i pois,

{ A young boy, studying Talmud, runs around like o Christian peasanti.. .. youwr
well bred Jewish hoys do not run around. Only aon-Jers are wild and phyatond, )

LB But you see, it was very important to him and to that 3ife, it was impooinat,
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It may sound fuany now but it wasn®t funny then,

NR Of course it was not fuwny, It was very, vexy sericus and so¢ on, How 1 _=uilualtiy
got away from this when I entered gymnazium, Now this brings me to the qw?ﬁtlnn
that you started to ask me fivst, earlier, what was the bigger town, nuwﬁi:c
toun there was only elementary school, There was an elementary school ia ithe
village but it was a one room school, with peasant kids and my father would

never think of it, And besldes you have 1o he in a cheder, Jo we wenl '

cheder and we arranged that we attend the public school in town, He neodrd g

¥
Justification, some pull, I don't know, So we all attended. But there sz no
there was no
, grmnazium there,/high schoel, How we had a six year school attendance -u Lhath
was after the end of the sixth year it was o At the eni of 41

fourth year of elementary schocl you had the privilege of applylng for sdmission
to a gymnazium, And you had {0 present yourself for a test, The fee waz not vary

much, If you were a good lstudent, it was free, But you had to prove yuiursoli,

And every &ear you had to apply, for exemption, But minimum, But the lest was
severe, A very rigid tesi, /d I had ambitions to go to gymmazium, But ~i bhe
end of the fourth year, when I began talking about it,...

IB How old would you be then? Seven! _

NR Ten.

LB Ten, Oh,

NR FElementary school started at the age of six, I started cheder at the azn of
three,

IR You starited at three, Then elementary school was sir and then anothar iour
years was ten. 0K,

MR At the end,.,towards the end of the fourth year, when it was time to imdic ot
application and make the decision, you had to have a recommendation from !t

schonl and so ony my grandfather, my mother's father...fio! as long as b buw

anything to say.,.and there too, you see, I later on, 7 blamed father, l.fior

was not a fighter, Father wanted me Lo go to gymnazium, But it wasn't westn
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fighting for it.

IB You're not the only one!l

NR That's right, Mow If my mother had thought that I had to g¢ she would have
probably put up,,.she was not a fighter in the sense of talking loud but
very determined, like her silence,

LB Yes, Hisht gemugt iz oichet pezust. (Not to say something is to say samethis. , |

HR Yes, Nisht pezugt iz olichet gezugt, That's right, And she was a very strong

gvoman, 30 well, what could I do? So 1 entered the fifth year, Just forgot
about il and say, Let's walt, We'll see, I don*t remember whal went through
my mind,
_LB lMaybve grandpa will die, You know, it’s a very real, legitinmate...
R Maybe it occurred to me, I don't vemember, 8o I started the fifth year, And..
LB By that time, let's see, you're eleven, so it's 1911,
MR Thati's right, It was 1911 and I should have entered gymnazium at the end of 177,
Normally, And sure enough, my grand{ather died, in January, And one day, we
Were in cheder, the three of us and father came, he seldom came to cheder %o

see us, he came over and called us out, He said, Der zaide is geshtorben, (Grour -

father is dead,)

LB Zehde, (This is a matter of accent, Russian Jews having a different vowel pro-
nunciation from Galicians who speak a “Daitscher” Yiddish)

NR I don't know how it affected us, I don't remember, And,,.we did not ecven go
to the funeral but I think we followed for a short distance, And then, I saisd
Well, now that is my time, iy time has come, And I brought up the whole ques<i-a:
again and 1 said, I'm not going to continue, I%m quitting school in a week ci
50, I said, I'm quitting school and I'm going to prepare for the exams, the i,
How, I didn't have to quit school, But I wanted to dramatize,

LB To make your point,

NR That was right! As a matter of fact, I couldn't quilt school because they woul-

have arrested me for,..well, not arrest, but,..
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LB Ho, You would have been forced to at least go the six ycars,

NR What do you call it, that...

IB Delinguency,

Not

NR /Deliquency, You don't attend school, There is a term for it, (Truancy )

And the reason why 1 took the preparation for the exam very seriously, hesau o
I was weak on zp Polish, and they paid a lot of attentlion...The langunage of in.
struction in gymngzium was Polish, And the Polish teachers and the Polish,

? they wanted to Polonize the, as much of the population as possible, to galn
the upper hadn over the Ukrainians, Now Jews, linguistically, assimilated 4+
the Poles, When a Jew stopped talking Ylddish,,.

LB He spoke Polish?

NR j;He spoke Folish, Just like in Quebec, English, The French have 1t against *: -
Jews there, The Jews are,..

(Tape off)
5ide 3 000

IB 8o, you were preparing for your gymazlum, right?

NR Yes. The reason why I took it so seriously and with a greal deal of appreheli-
sion was because, not the subjects, I had no trouble, I was good in arithmatic,
I was good in whatever,the subject matter, I was a very good student, But I wnn
weak in Folish,

LB Tou spoke Yiddish at home.

LR At home I spoke Yiddish, and Ukrainian but, no, I mean in the street I spok::
Ukrainian and Polish and a 1little bit of German hut at home Yiddish. But not
enough, T didn't have enough contact with FPolish kids to acquire a good acceni
and so on, even though I studied the grammar and I was corredt in articulatio:;,

IB You didn't have facility, really,

NR That's right., Because in cheder all the kids spoke Yiddish, In elementary
school, Yiddish, And at bome, Yiddish, And T was told they pay a lot of

attention, the examiners...there's a written exam and an cval exam and they
pay a lot of attentlon and I'd totter be prepared becapse the fact that
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I°11 make very godd marks in arithmatic or history o in zpelling and w2’ '
but Af they Find that you have a very bad accent, they®ll Jjust cancel yor. b,
S0, I spoke to father, My father flnally agreed that Y should stard prep «i

and even was very helpful, He had among the ¢ivil servants, who were mosiliy

Them
¥Yoles, he had some acquaintances, friends, he bribed/for occasions and =i o+ .
Various
I remenber myself, I used {to bring butter and eggs to selected people whe © 1

the say in something that might affect my father'®s business, It was a wey of
1life,

LB I understand, And it wasn't only in your village,

NR Of course, It's all over. O course, So this man, one man, who was soke i -
of an officlial, he, the son, who was a student at the university in Lvow,
leaberg and ithen, whether he finished or not, abtay rate, at that time b w0
alrendy heme and also took o job in government, Ostrowski was his name, viiaod,l0,
And he talkedto the father..,the son sald, Fine, I'11 tutor him, And svooy s
I went to him for an hour or two, And we developed a very close friendsiic.

He was pleased that I wanted.th go to gymnagium, He was pleased fhat 1o b
to study Polish and study it well, And he noticed, of course he knew th i
had reslstance at home, so he, in a way he admired my determination and «oumw .
and so on, 50 I had a friend there and he started to siay with me longer 4.
necessary, than the hour or two. From time to time I Frought him fruit i

he prepared lunch for me, He Yived like a hackelor, He had his own 1littic
apartment, And then, by the end of August, I had to present wyself for thw
examipation, I missed the regular, The regular p¢ii4. in which examinationo
are held is June, But because I was not in time for making the applicaiion

I missed the regular examination period and I had to do it two weeks beur:
aschool opened, And school opened Septewber first, so towards bthe end ob
Avgust I presented myself for the test. And sure enough, 1 passed, the

tests last about two days, one day written and one day oral, 4nd I Pa59<J

all the written tests very well, If you pass the wrilien tests you wen '
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throvgh the oral, Otherwise they jusil,..and in the orals; again, thewrs woie
some questions from the German, Gerwan was a language, Lkrainian was & 10,
And I was asked for the afternoen, I have to present myself for the roll: -,

The man who examined me, 1 still) remember his name, His nane was Kyamer,

he was a teacher in gymnazium, We called them professors, And later on ho
taught Iatin, I was already in gymnazium, He was a Fole, I had my susplelsn
that he was a convert, that the family were converts, #fidl he was a son 1 o
of a doctor, Dr, Bigeleisen I remember, ne wWas a very disilin-

guished doctor, very impressive, with a beard, And he was also, passed an

Yole, And I had my suspicions about,..
1B About him too,

NR HNo, not he, but, just like here, Schlesinger, Blumenthal and sc on, Somewiwir

in the family, ¥Well this Kramer talked to me for aboult half an lwur and
accent was not very good, My pronunclation was probably waserable becaus., ..
Polish is a very difficult lengunge to acquire, I found 3t, I found Frglic:
more ecasy to leavn than FPolish, The chy ¢h, c¢h for instance, I alsays tel: -3
friends, You want to know how difficult it iz to learn Folish, Zarthquals,

Polish, 1s chinchenizenie. Survive that, you can learn it, And we had, in curc

country, in the University of Ilemberg, we had Englishmen who taught Englicr ol
the University level, Some of them had been twenty five years and they corbtin’y
gpeak Folish. Very bad languvage, But, at any rate, he, I think he cort oi oo
miserated with me, And I told him the story, that I had no ocecasion to syruic
Pollish, Now in gymnazium I would have, because most of the Jewish kids who
went to gymnazium spoke Polish at home,. They were from the assimilated...
lawyers and doctorSe..

IB HWarsaw..,oh no, they wouldn't ve from Warsaw,

NR Mot Warsaw, And ILemberg had its own gymnazaium, They were from surroundine
areas, They were Tor instance, Sambor was 3 bigger towm with about twenty

thousand people, maybe two thousand Jewisn Tamilies, Most of the lawyers e

Jeus, Most of the doctors wera Jewn, Most of the bugsinessoen wore Joeus, .
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IB  And they spoke P?l%sh,
rising

NR Those whowers. . ~, they brought up their children alreaydon the Folish I:ruiiae .
tany of them, So certainly the language of playing and,,.was Polish fox ==
of them, And then he pasgsed me, Iater on T was a student of his in nls .-
in Iatin, I was a very good student and he was wvery friendly, That's hon
entered, But, to overcome certain difficulties, I had the pals, Now L woneo
not...if I present myself flor the examination with the pals, they weuld roimdl s
have falled me right away. I was told. There was no law against it, And & w2
not sure I would pass the exam, I covldn't cut off my pais because when ¥ cutb
off my pais and come back home to town and to face,..

LB The six families,

NR In town! In shul! There were other families,

LB Oh, Ch, Oh,

NR Uncles! And all bearded, and so on, And they began aznd they resented an! !loy

some of them had 1t against my fathew, Fax vus hast du im gelost gain n

gymnazla (vhy did you let him go to gymnazium?) In gymmazium we had to ;o

Shabbos. And Goyim and...bh, zis nisht far Yidden, (Dt's not for Jews ), Yor

know the old story, In our whole town, three only attended gymnagium, Tw.
supvlved, myself and another one, So, my sister came to my aid, Flrst of 'l
they thinned out the pais. They didn'’t cut, but they thinned them out,
then with prune juice, they combed it hack, |

IB With prune jucie?

NR With prune Jjuice, We had no cosmetics, Prune juice,.

LB But how inventive,

HR Sticky, And I had long hair here, so this also was a constant source of Lot
tation between, and argument between me and my mother and grandfather, i

vis darf men haben azoi fiellanger hur? (Why does his hair have to lLe 57 long?)

Shkutzim haben langer hur, (Gentile boys have long hair) Jews cut their eix

short,
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Oh they did.

Yes, Iou know why?

The lice,

ffo, ¥ell, lice, no..,because 30 you put the t£i111in close to the brain, Un'-
close to the heart,you serve God with the heart and with your braln, reasmo,
man®s nmind, So that's why thers must be no menia Fenla nmean: ., ..
Interference,

Intefferencea,

Nothing between you and your communing with God,

But I, in this respect I always stood my ground and I had longer hair, Hot

very long but so that you could comb the pals and it would mingle with the

hair here, (Behind the ears)

You think that's part of the reason, maybe, somewhere in the back of your lwa!
that you had this? I mean, for example, it.sounds to me as if in sowme corucv

of your mind, you had already determined and you know at *en, children.of Lea
are quite young, And you had alrealy made up your mind about sewveral thing.

3o you were, as one of the men I spoke to sald, Well, I when I was a very

young boy. Before I was twelve, After twelve, er is shoin geven a man, (He was
already a man) You see? How, so at ten, you had already made up your mind stoad
several things, You really didn’t bhave any strong support Trom your mother
father, Hothéng that you could count on over a stable pericd of time,

The only support I got I got from my father was this, My faiher was, loved
koved, and when he came to the bigger towns vccasionally, because he did

business in town where there was the gymnzalum, And I walked with him and .

< were in wniform, the gymnszium put us in unlforms, And he took a cerlain piid.,

We met one of his sugltiers or customexrs and many of them were themselves wewn:
already nore modern and some of them without beards and I had a very good
record, and in a small town, after all it's still a small town, The whole

twenty thousand people, practlcally cverybody knows who doe:
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well and who fails, And every year they had, they published a report and
50
T usually headed the class and/he took a great deal of pride in me. Mds iz

mein zin, Geht in gymnazium, Br iz der bester talmid, and so on, That'’s the

ounly encouragement or pride,

LB Yes, but you see you had to make the decision before and go ahead without, - -
then came the support, You didn't receive the support so that you could mai.
the decision,

NR I didn't receive the support and I didn®t receive the recognition except on
such occasions, I remembexr when I was elghteen, or nineteen, passed matura,
You know what matura is? Now that was also a great.,.and he had difficulty. ..,.
but I don’t want to get ahead of the story,

LB T understand about the difficulties,

the Ukrainian

NR But we were expelled from school Lecause we attended/school during the
six months thatthe Ukrainian republic was established and ihe Foles kicked
outl the Ukrainians and declared everybody who attended the schools were dis-
koyal, Only Jews and Ukrainlans, The Poles ran away, They were disloyal to
Poland, 30 we were all summarily expelled from gymnagzium, a few months tefor.
passing matura, Now there was a lew where, an Austrian law which the Foles iouk
over; that one can present himself hefore matura without even having attende
a day scheool, I learned it, I know it.

LB That would he in externa; for cxample, )

NR That's right. Tn externa, And some Jews took advantagejoirgﬁéé;x Jews who
didn't want their sons to go to gymnazium with Goyim on Shabbos, They studie:
privately and they themselves, 50 we presented ourselves, we got
advice from people in the know, including some of our Jewish gymaszium teache. .
Who were also expelied, (ne incidentally, does the name laﬁahﬁtdﬂﬂJo mean
anything to you?

LB Ko,

HR Nathan ﬁk%{¢“4xhbﬂ’was professor of philosophy at the Hebrew Unlversity, wan

rector of the university...He was the son of this Rothenstein, He was my
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teacher of Germsn and he was cexpelled, And he advised u:.., Mow they treat

an extern differently than a man who passes matura afler elight years

attending, Because there, it was a formality., And the cxsminers are your
rrofessors, But here the& send the commission from Warsaw, this was

in Warsaw, And tough people, And we had to really work very, very hard and

most of us passed and some of us passed well, So I came home, after worki:

very hard for three months, studying day and night and the train,.,there +::
only cne train a day, It arrived at four o'cleck in the morning, to the . loo-,

56 at four o'clock, cr four thirty I came home and knock at the door, by oiiaw

comes to the door, Yer iy du? - Nutan, Hathan, So T said, in tug #omachi

matura,- {Today I passed my matura) Upgekimmen?! Upgekimmen! You know whiil,

the word, upkimmen means,,,

Finished,

It means you get rid of some trouble, Upgekimmen, Gai shluffen.(FiniShed?
Go to sleep.)That vas ‘the only recognition

So how do you account for it? I mean, some children, you know if they don't
get the support, well they say, forzet 14,

You see, I don't believe very much in environment.

You don't,

No.Jj I think, I'm not an educator, Iy wife is a professional pedagogue and
educator and she teaches speclalists in learning disabilitles and is very
well known, She's included in ile Mncyclopedia of Gifted Teachers buh, so
thatl's a standing axgument,

Between you and your wife,

Yes and her friends who come, I think a lot of it Is Jjust wasted effort. L
to the extent that...

Now what is your stand?

My claim is that, it must be in you. A part of you, in your genes, Of cowr:,

food, if you have food and skilter, that's important, But all the other guiduce,..
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we gulde our kids to death, kcw here you have the bast oxample, We had .. oo

kids, We were six children, We were all bLrought up by the same parents,
same grandparents, the same envivonment, Mol like here, s kid is gent to i nw
lessons and we send them in summer to a camp, We had a very concentrated i

vivonment/ And that environment remained the same for our period of grow’ :; .,
Ky oldest brother would have been, if he had had the advantage of secula: o

cation, or advantage of opportunity al least, he might bhave been a wery - 7

lawyer, & very good doctor, perhaps a professor, A vexry hright, intellaec! ..l
interested, But he took to the Talmud, That is of course,..,

LB Trat's a legitimate field too,

anle

NR Yes, Of my itwo sisters, one was, would have been perhapsf,. but the sist.
Aidn®t have, were not tested, They didn't go, They waﬁt Lo school for ru. i
and writing and so on, by two older brothers, Lhey were only two or thre: yooen
removed from me had no interest in stuwdylng whatsoever. Gne started, he .0%%
qualify for gymagium,,..my father would never have theoucht of sending him o
gyimazium, He had no ambition, So he sent him to commexrcial school, leari-' Lo
be a bookkeeper, And he failed that loo, But he came to liontreal, he bhecivs 5
very successTul businessman, They built up a million dellar busiinens,
They both died now « The same cheder, the same inf{luence, the sa:
cheder, The same teachers tbat I was exposed to, they were exposdd to. Theo
was,,.therefore we can identify the envivonment. Identical, And yel. The oo
brothers had no interest whatsocever in studying and L; from earliest chiliroo,
was with books, 4nd I had to cvercome all sorts of difficulties, I wesn¥ i
mitted to the Foligh wniversity after 1919 after matura, So I smuggled ti.
border, risked being Jailed, starved for about a year in the universily o
Frague, YWell, not starwved, but didn't bhave encugh to eat. snd there I i oy
for the fivst time the benef it of the ald of American of the, the Joint wi- iy
operated there, So we got soup kitchen and so on, Bubt we would have surviuvod

without it too, And then come back and was admitted to the University Lol i
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didn't like the conditions in Poland and my two brothers were at that i
already in Canada, largely due to my pulling, I practically puiled them oot

from Poland, One was in Foland, in Galicla, he had & very zood Job in o loo
¥ -

and he would have stayed there, The other was in, he fled fo Budapest, he

never came back, He was, had a jub there in a mumitlons Tactory in a plan:
there, a bookkeeper and he would have stayed there toc, Bul when I came %o

Frague, I was very much fasclnated by the possibllities of emigration, oo

was, al that time, a gathering peoint for people who fled from Russla, dJewn wn’

Ukrainians who fled fyom Lbe Folish regime, One of my teachers, Machiovieh
was an Ukrainlian, he fled to Ffrague, died lhere, And there were possibili’l'..

of going, A lot of it fraud, lorgery. You could buy frauvdulent,..l came Lo

Frogue the first time, I went to the Jewlsh kehilla opened..,
This was in 1919,
1919, 1920, For a year X tutored in an Italian home in Galicia. And they

grabbed me right away, Vilst du furen? Fuxen kin Guatemsla, kin cuba, kin

Axgentine., passporten, (Do you want to travel? To Guatemala, to Cuba, to

A;gentina, passports) They were selling passports and selling visas, [ sali,

No, Ich fur nisht, (No, I'm not traveling) I just entered the wniversity 'mt

I began pulling my brothers and one brother came there anl he got a visa
Cahada and the other one and I uns.the third,

Why did you want them out?

Hell, I didnot like the future prospects,

You saw this already?

Well, T didn't see the Holocaust,

Mo, Wo, But even what took place in Poland betuween the ftwo wars was,..

The first thing,; you seec, the Jews were the middle class, They were in th

PR

I

businesses, And the Folish government from the begimning showed the deteri s

tion,..the Polish community before, for lnstance in 191Q, 1911 when I was

kld, the Poler and the lkrainians started to eawpaign, ceparate campaipos,

Lk



Nathan Reich Side 3 29 D30 Ln

fN)

our little town, under the slogan, Bur from your oo,
LB T Jjust finished reading about it, I mean I don't remember, but I just

finished reading about it,

Hi  Now in 1920, when the Poles took over, the spring of 1919 after the Ukra'l ia i,

after six months of the Ukwainian regime, my father wanted to renew the o -
business. Because during the war all that was destroyed, We had a Russiar

occupation in our lpart, Sc at that time he had to get a license., How we wero

told, very openly, and.very trsinkly, thet the Jew has no chance to gel a *io oun

License had to be gotten from Warsaw, Ixport license, #nd thal was very i--
pprtant, you got foreign exchange., If you exported eggs to London, you got

pends and the Polesg needed them, But they wouldn't give 14 te Jews, Bub 17

you found a Fole, a front, and youfor come consideratlon, you pay him sonusbi Lo

you gel 1t dn the name of that Folish person and then you could do,,.s0 le i
up, I don't know, a woman, s Tormer member of the Folish nobility, but im-
poverished nobility,,.And he talked to her and she sald, Yes, she has conl-oci-
In Warsaw and she could prohably get it, She linde some inguiries and that ..o
arranged, And I was goling Lo go with her to Warsaw to take her, she was &.
to see that

older person and/she does the right thing and that the license is propsrly
endowed and so on, And I did go to Warsaw in the béginning of 1980 and sho
did getv the license, &nd that license was worth a lot of money, In Tact s
people just sold their license without bothering about sold ii ¢
another person, But the thing ell through because the local Foles had to,
the representatives of the Folish government, they had to certify that the
basins and all that had the sanitary facilities,..

LB So they could get you on a technieality if they wanted to.

HR Well, maybe it was, But they were not really up to par, During the Russian
invasion of 1916 none of the basins was rvestored, I mean not properly and

then too, the Poles were particularly anxious because the export went

to Germany, Because Germany was a peor Germany, a defeated country,
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But to london, 50 they were extra careful that the eggs would L therxe ol the
best character AL any rate, the

we did notl get the local certification fell through, how,things of b .-
sort, you wee, made me Teel, My God, 1T you bave to fight for every little Lil
and compete on an uneven lavel. How what chance,..what chance do Jewish lawyer:
have? Where the tendency would be in each case to support the Folish young muii
who wants to be a lawyer, or doctor and so on, X said, Ho, I have to
get out,

IB Did you say this to your father and mother?

NR Well, yes, sure,

IB Did they get out?

NR No, They didn®t want to, The only person who got out was myncphew. The oldesi
son's son., My oldest brother's son, He got out in 1935,

IB But your mother and father,..they could not understand what you were saying.

NR  They could uwderstand, My mother would have,,.my father would have gone, But

my mother said,Vuh vill ich furen? {Where will I go?) They were savenhy years n'!

at the Lime, Aud nobody, nobody foesaw the Holocausd, AL

right. All right] Mir haben zich gemitchet, Bah goyim haben zich gemichet vnd drrih

michen, durch arbeiten, (e have suffered, From the Gentiles we have suffered ard

will again suffer but still work), Economically, they were very well off even uiden
the Polish regime,

1B Stiil,

NR Yes,

LB They still md the farnm,

NR They had the farm, of course, And they had the lumber business. So and then afiocv
aiound 1925, 1926 when my brothers established a business i tiontreal and busirvy
was very good, so they began to send them woney, monthly suppoert., So they Telt...

LB It's so aggravating, Because, 1 mean, here there were passporis to be gotften ind

Jews could have gotten out and they stayed?
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NR Well, because,..

LB Even, you talk to Anya and her family, They didn't want to come]

NR You don®l appreciate the strength of the rootedness, you know, You get atbac: -I,

13 That's right, No there's no blame, It®s just people,,.the fellow I'm workin. -1
says, People don't want to movel! Thelr homes are theve, Thelr families are Lbie. .
Theyve heen there for generétions.

NE  Without that you couldn®t have any kind of established civilization., Feople .
the move,,.after all, when man was migratory he didn't,.,

LB HNo, but we were arguing...because we both get upset. When there was a chance i
move, people didn't move,

NR I argued with them in 1937, I was the last time visiting, I visited my brother in
law, My sister had died,. She died of cancer in 1935, The brother in law stayed o
in Jembexrg, He was one of the richest men in Lemberg, He had a textile, whoies '
house, was his pame, He remarried, But I was still attached to him an!
he had two daughbers, my nieces, And [ argucd with him, On the railroad, he caw ic
see me off in Iemberg. He came an hour early so we walked back and forth the pil:if-
form, Back and forth, And his name was David, Dovidel, Dovidel, why don’t you oo
to Montreal? He wouldn't, I advised Moutreal because my two brothers were in Foabresl
and they had a big business ahd their families and sc on, He said, I could sel: v
business for about $200,000, Well, that's a fortune, In lemberg that's a great o:.i,
And even in lontreal, before the war, I would have to lose 350,000 because it's nol
aliowed to export currency, foreign curvency, 5S¢ I would have to find a way. Yo wnow,
there's a way of transferring, I said, So why don't you do it? So he said, ¥Well:,

1 was thinking, I said, Do it for your daughters' sake, In fact, one daughter wo
killled and he was killed later on and his second wiffe was killed and another drepititaor
she was ithe one who survived, hiding for twe years, She came vo Hontreal and now

she lives in Melbourne, Australia, That's a story in iiself, of how she got teo
hustralia, 5o he saild, Well, look, Here I'm a well known person, I'm recognized,

And I have ay friends and 1 have an assured futur:.,
So what's all,,, The Poles,,.we llved with the Poles, We lived with the IFoles,
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we'll continue {0 live with the PFoles, ‘Their ways,..and so on, Here I am, ni.,
for the past twenty five yeaxs in this business and I'm still running it.

LB This was in 319377

NR This was in 1937. 1939, he was killed by the Hazls and his bwo davghlers.. .o
his wife was killed. They had another little boy with the new wife, so the
boy vas killed and the two daughters fled, to Dragovich, Why ito Drgagovich? [ ..
Just went there, wherever they had some hope 40...

IB VWhere viould Dragovich be on the map?

NR " Dragovich would be in easlemn Gglicia,

IB Tt would he in eastern? You consider that your section was weshera?

NR ko, Our section was central,

LB Central, 3o it's porth of 3Ztanislavau, Hear Lemberg?

NR Well T would say from...straight south,

IB I have a sample tape here, Do you have 2 tape recorder home? Would you ta-n ih:o

tapes and listen to lthen? Well, we®ll talk about it after you've finished, o

the two girls went to Dragovich,,, There were three daugiterms, weren'®t thez- " e
daughters?
Nk Two daughters...One was ahout nineteen and one was abont seventeen, They = it iooe,

blue eyed and they had baptismal certiflcates,

I3 Oh, they did.

NR Thelr life was not indanger provided Lthey could keep thelr secrecy. d %o i
Germans announced thait they're recruiting people to work in Jerman factorvias,
industries, And they thought this would he a way of saving their lives and ,oF L0z
an income, They didn®t hAve anything to live on, They bhad sowe fiem home, bu.,..
They brought with them some méiey, but it was beiny exhausited, S0 the older, it
they wouldn't accept the yownger one, you bad to be olghteen, So the older o
qualified. #nd she was xvecrulted, she left, with others and her complete tywac:
disappeared. Never heand Trom her asgain, She may have been, either discovero:,
detected by some acquaintances that she wus Jewish, or many off them were kiilr:

during the bombing, See, the Allles bombed the war factories and many Germar:.



T,

dathan Reich 5ide 3 509 podd LB

were killed, They may have killed...she never heard,,,
So this one was left now, a sevenlbeen year old, Bluma was her name, and so she ju &
knocked at a door of some,..

1B Pole?

HR Pole, Ukrainian family,

LB Ukrainian?

HR Yes,..

| (Thpe ends )
Side 4 000

KR A1l right, s0.,.,.

LB Now this was an Ukrainian family that btook her in, xight?

NR A woman, shether a wildow or so and whether she had some information, advanc
informgtion that that woman can be talked to about it ox maybe persvaded,..ary.
she took her in, And she kept her for aboul eighteen months, twnety months, iu
daytime, she was in the attic and at night she used t¢ come down in the house. uie
never went ovuit of the howse, And she had some Jewelrey that the stepmother govw
her they left the house, the home, So she gave it to her and that may bave beon
inducement, But she could have taken it anyway and veported her to the Germar:, s
turned her in, But she didn't,

LB Did she know she was a Jew? Did the woman know she was a Jew?

NR Oh yes, Otheruilse why do you hide?

LB VWhy do you hide? Right,

¥R She gaid that in the course of the conversations she sald, Well; it so hap v
that the Russlans camle here...bhe Russians occupled her home before the Germee:
came., The Russians took wy son away,., Took him to the army probably, T don®t -,
And maybe AL I'm nice to you, Gol will protect my son,

LB 1 wderstond that, Because I do that Tor students, I say, for example, if -«
dauvghter vere in this fix, T would hope that somebody would do that for her,

NR Well, at any rate, after that she came cut and she found her way to Lember:.



mathon Releh Side 4 021 e 43 LB

cavoe her family lived in Lemberg. She was a stulent in the gymnazium there. She
wuvw the town and she worked for a time in, in a, 1little sort of, restaurant for
Syreian soldiers, whether it was in a bar, I don't know, She worked her way weste
wrd, She knew she had my name and address, and the address of my brothers in. Hon-
Lral, the uncles, And on Yop Kippur, this was, she was liberated by the Russians
“ny, T think in lMarch, April 1945, Then she worked for a time, Then in on Yom Kippur
#isht, alter Yom Kippur, at the end of Yom Kippur, I got & call from somebody in
Liee Aronx, Are you Hathan Reich? I said, Yes, He said, Are you a professor? Yes,
e you s professor at Hunter College? Yes, 1 have a letter for you from yours.,
o ovou have & niece? I sald, I have many nieces in Europe, Do you have a niece,
ot
“’?vwfogng-Well, I have a letter from Bluma Siein which my brother, my son, who
w«r in the Amerlcan army, by thai time the Amerlean army already sent, to sort of
in agreement
Vioosun committees o distribute all sorts of aid,..in understanding/ﬁith the

fmweisns, The Russians ocecupled that territory., snd at that time she was already

n Toacow, She vas moving westmard, Cracow was alrxvady a Folish,..Folish Communist

cooement, 80 as soon as we heavd...and they lived in gangs, all these people who
v ‘berated, they gol together and she found some friends., As a matier of fact,
aneny the liberated people, she found a man whom she later..,., fifteen years later,
por edy went to Melbourne, Well, as soon as they heard that there's an American
sionion, and there are some Jews among the American people, they came in, There

a3x oo wall, No communication, No mail communication, No repular mail communication
st-ilished, So she gave them a letter that she’s in Cracow and T got the letter
e twe weeks later, T, at that time, was on leave of absence from Hunter College
sy 4oworked on the Joint's Distribution Committee, I went to Europe
siyd o wislted the various camps and was in charge of relief work and so on, So T
necnrUly got in bouch with the, owr representative in Cracow, We had representatives...
son A an area was 1iberated from the Nazis tegethexr with the American army,

e L0 representative came with them, almost, And then I got from him a message

3

she's not there, T indicated that she's that and thal.,.she gave me an address,..
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she®s not there, She left tor Rumania, ALl cight, so I walted, Sure enough, about
a week later; ¥ got a message from Rumaria that she is there, So I communicated

with our representative in Rumania, By the {ime he got it, she was in Vienna,

At any rate, shd was a very restless and very energetic woman, She was a real

Alshus chail,

i3 A what?

SR Aishus ehail, Alshus chall is a Hebrew word Tor Amczon, & womal: who 1s also a

chail, A chail s a militoxy men, And so finally, when T heard that she's in Vienna,

I got in touch with the,..1 thought I'1l send a parcel,,.and I told, in the nmessage
T told the...Ll knew most of these people, Because when they were recrbnited to do
worls, reliet work, they went throwh an orientation course about conditions and I
was in chaige of that orientation course in Hew York, So, if a young glirl by the

name of Bluma Stein comes to you and she says she's my niece, you®ll know that's

T

true, She's wmy niece, Bul hold herll Hold her uwntil,,.end sure enough, and then

ve were in touch and then we advised her te go to laris becauge in 1947 I was in

“aris and while in Paris we arcranged for lhe visa 1o Canada, We preferred that she
g0 to Canads btecause most of the family was there., So, she's the only one who sur-
vived, Hut T bepged her Father to leave in 1937, He wouldn't,

3 You're not the only one, |

-1 dell, at any vate, to finish her story, which is an interesting...ln Fontreal,
after about a year, she met a young Polish Jew, who was also In hiding about fifty
miles anay frﬁm where she was in hiding but they didn't know, They met in Montreal,

And all these pecple stick together, landsmanschaft like American Jeus stick to-

That®s wight. FHos listen, that's how I happened to thiok of you when I mel Iir,
{endelssohn, Because 1 thought to myself, frow what I learned, landsmen stick to-
zather,

L Hes Poliwr, Ita Galiclan, you know, He's from Yarsaw,

well, I wnderstand that, Bal silll.,, But even so, you would be more apt to ~om-
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winieate with him than you would with a Russilan Jew, If you were going o estab-
iish a comection,
3o, she marvied this younz man, 3o, they did quite well, They were very able,

ey had a sone and he died at a young age, The soh was ahout six years old,

ind he died alfter eight years of married life, And he died from a wound that he
Lyought was healed, but wasn't, When he got out of hilding, he was a very shrewd
“.1dew too, He was a very good business man, Keen, a very rich man while he lived,
d he started trading rvizht after this, Buying from Russian soldiers food and so
s, pverybody was making,..black mraket, There was no other mavket, Bvery market
v o black merket., So he had conlacts with a Russlan sergeant. They seld him cer-
“ein goods and he sold it to the civilians and once, whether there was a,..they
toied ho Find these people,..there was a search You c¢ircle around a
©'n1d with a group of people and you make a search,

w1 he escaped, ran away, And he was shot, 4nd the bullet hit him here, (Polnts to calf
Ao 14 wasn't very serious and he was taken to,..after all he went to a doctor

sx<t they took it out, They thought they took it out, Apparentiy they did not, A
raot of the bullet remained,

in the calf,

“n the calf, And it migrated, slowly, and he got, it reached the heart and thé
lvnza, the lungs particularly, he had difficulties in breathing, And they took
hio1dn the hospital and he died on the operating table, How, so she remained a
w'ow, But there was no problem., Bhe's a very enerxgetic woman and my brothers were

course, at the time, well to do and no problen, And she began, after a year, she
b _on dating other people, And then, T told you, when she got out of hiding, they

a lot, and amongthem when they met was a men who was ten years older

s oshe was adn who fell in love with her, She's a very pretty woman, And he
v hed to marry her, And -he said not only that, I knew your lather.,,because his
o bher had a, tittle retail textile goods and she used to come every cnce a month

oo shop and buy from the wholesaler, from David Stein, And T used 1o see you in the

+heve when you were about ten years old, See now she was already eighteen and he
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was_twenty eight, And T was quite soft on your sister, Now you may nol know it
but when she grew up I wanted to mgrry her, Told her that I'm going to marxy

her too. But she didn't, She marricd someone else, But I'm willing to marry

you, And he was very shrewd fellow, so much so that he was in hiding in Budapest.
kot in Polana, He fled to Budapest.

LB Ch God! How did he geit through Ludapest?

i It's not very far away.

IF No, what I mean is how did he manage to,..

NR  Well, by chance, ie lived with a gronp., And in Pudapest he cgucceeded in getiing
a baptismal certificate that he's a Yole, a CGathollic and he associlated with other
Poles, genuine Poles, when they started bvlack maxrketeering, buying gold, Jewels..,

LB Now was this during the war or after?

HR  During, during,.,the Nazis were They did it of course with the
papers and they had the protection of the rolish consulate, And a few times his
1life was in danger because they seized him Forsmuggling operations and so forth
the Tirst thing they did, was take off your pants. And once he says, they lined
them up, about ten of them, he was the only Jew and the other Poles, nine Poles
ktnew that he was Jewish and they protected him, They were friends and they were
one, And sure enough, he would have becn.,.d0 after the Tirst one, the second one,
they fhally said, Look here, You're wasting your time, You know we're all good
foles here anl so they did not come to hilw,

LB The tenth man,?

iR Maybe he was the ninth, I dou't know,

B Iz shoin a minyan! {They already have a minyan)

SR When the Germans were expelled from Budapest and he came home, he had forty
thousand dollisrs saved from the business,,.forty thousand dellars, So he went to
Prague and in partnership with another youny Jew whom he met, who presumably knew

something alout the textile business, Now he knew about the textile business, but

the selling of it, not the making of it. The other one knew, They bought machinery
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Tor textile renufacturing and they went te ltelnoune, They thought Australia's
a new country, It needs manufacturing. And they came to Helbourne and they

opened a textile plant and then he claims too,; sither that the partaer was not,

either he overestimated his ability or maybe he's nol honest, Avnyway they lost
everything, Then he went to the thing that he kinew best, To in tex-
+tiles, He opened s textile business, a larpe And how he maintained
contact with my ulece, Whien she left for Cansda, he sald, ¥ell I'm going to
Australia, Bul let's write to each other. And they all hang together, 8o they
were in conagtant communication, Then she wrote him that she married, this man,
Jhe didn't love him at that time, Why didn®t she,..Well, he was older and he's
not mwy type. This one was a young fellow, about two years older, But through the
grapevine and the landsmanschalt he also heaxd, eight years later that her husband
died, He nover married, Now, whether he waited for her, I don®t know. So as soon
as she became a widow, he began writing to her. One day, my brother sits in his
office in business and this fellow comes in, he was about thirty eight years old

ot the time, Forty years old, Knocks at the door, Are you Reich? Harry Reich? Yes,
T want to marcy your niece, Just like this, He's a very impulsive,,,

L3 Well, he wasu®t all that impulsive, He walied quite a while there,

‘? Yes, tut if he wants something...50 he says, Who are you? So he introduced him-
sell, Oh, you want to maryy we
But my brothers were sort of e sponsore,,,

3 Well, they were the elder statesmen.

A That's right, That's right. He thought that he should talk to him, in loco
parentls, in lieu of parents, So of course my brother agreed and they got engaged
and then he went back to Australia and made out the papers and about six, seven

through
months latershe left for IMelbotune / New York, And of course, we saw her off,
¥ith hexr boy. The boy; Davld, named after.his grandfather, And she fell that it
wouldn't be rvight to bring the boy to a stepfather right away. She thought thexe

will be a period, she'll see how she will gel adjusted and so0 on, laybe she wasn't
aure whether she will stay or not, So they put him in a scheol in Switzerland,
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& Jewish Orthodox school with,..2 boarding place, & boarding school, For a year
he stayed there, And she went to Melbourne and they got married in Sdney he-
cavse, I don't know why, Syduey®s the capital, And he chartered a plane in Mel-
bourne and tock big,..by that time he had about 80 to 100 friends there, Also a
group of survivors and they all did very well In Melbourne, And he bpought them
to Sydney and they got married in Sydney. In 1967 we vigited them in Melbourne,
dhow she has +wo children, two boys with her new husband and the oldest is now =z
lawyer in Melbourne and he's a very rich man there, And every two, three years
they take a tour, Isrvael, California, Montreald, Hew York, Melbourne. So two
yeaxrs ago they were here for a whole week with the two boys, Not the oldest,
The olidest was here aboul four years ago by himself, Frobably this year they will
be here, That's the story.

B Well, you know you've left out all the,.,I don't even know if there's time to
30 Into it, But you can go inte some of it, For example, when the war, the first
war broke out,.,.a lot of the Galiclans were evacuated %o Prague, And you went to
Todapest,

48]  lobody was evacuvated,

LB Some of the people T spoke to.,.Koenigsbergs for example, Jack said that the
Austrian government provided transport to Uohemla,

R People who fHanted to flee, fled. There was no evacuation, It was only a very
small group of people, A very small minority, From our town, I don't believe more
than ten families of the two hundred fled, In our village, we were the only ones,
I uncle started to flee, but it was too late and he had to go lLack, So that®s the
atory. How we [led by horse and buggy. Rented, a peasant with two horses and he
packed and we left my older brother to take care of the house, because we Just
went for a few weeks, Hobody thought thatl this is a permanent parting, And one of
my brothers had a Jjob in Sambor, so we lost track. And one sister was already
msrried and she lived with hexr husband in S0 my father packed up,

my mother didn®t want to go and she thought it very selfish on his part and it was,
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Ascausc he left his mother in town and she died a few months later, She used
to dive with ug, 50 he took her to her sister who lived there in poverty and
the Rugsians came,,..at any rate, my mother thought it was not the proper thing
to do, And I apree with her, And he was a 1ittle bit embarrzssed., In fact, he

was embarrassad also in front of neighbors because you passed through villages

and the villzges,; some of the AdJews there, In every village,.,
13 Sanve qui peut, is what it is, Whoever can ssve himself, does, Every man

Tor himcelf,

<3 But he tried to conceal,.,I remember nelighbors, even relatives, distant cousins

whe lived in other villages, they camne oub, Shulemy,vus tiest du, vus First du mit

sl-multl (hat are you doing, leaving so suddenly) with my mother add myself and

2, v edlell, ich fur al vom tov.(I'm leaving on a holiday) He didn't tell the truth,

And we fled to ..

3 To Budapest you sald,

.t Yes, but it's not so easy, We fled lo, first, our first stop was a village

nomed Yablonka, That is where my oldest Lrether is living al kest, e married into

a rich landowner family, Feiler, Do you know #attmer's, the Jewish delicalessen?

Tn Hew York?

ioy, I don't know New York anymore,

i Hell, the Mattners used to be owned by the Fellers, by the same family,
3o he was goling, actually south west, I he was golng towards Hungary from where |
you werc, he was goliy southwest, %
That's right, ¥e were golng southwest, That’s right., But we stopped at Yablonka f
which was on the border of Slovakla of Czecha . Now, we thought, and this is big
mountains there, this was the pealk of the Carpathian mountains, ¥We were in the
foothiils, We truveiled, 1t took us two duys tc gel there hy horse and buggy.,
de thought the Zussians will never get there., We heard naive, We stayed
there for aboult a week and then things pot hot and we got word that Russian palrols

are scen len wmiltes from here and Russian Cossacks were seen in this village and that,
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#nd at that time we decided lo go Turther, We didn®t now Budapest, We®ll

a0 to Hungavy, hover visits the Slovak,,.it’s not far from Hungaria, Then it

was the Hungarian border, So we packed wp ayalin, what we had and we went to the
rallroal stalion and waited for the chance, either a passenger trelin will pass
or a Treight train and we will just...and a freight train came, They put us ang

# Cew others from surrounding cilies..,

i Dh T osee, So somebody conld say that was beling evecuated,

In a sense it was, 4&nd frombhere, this was two, three days before Rosh Hashana

we were packed in and came to a Jewish town, Satorahell, it's a Hungarian town

and there we were taken oubt of the train, It was a Jewlish community bui we arrived
elther on Shabbos or Rosh Hashana, 1 think the first day of Rosh Hashana and they
et us e in a house, And we had some money with us, And there we stayd, Agzain
saited to go back, really. It was only a wmaller of time., The Russions will be de-
Ceated or they will never get thewre and after three weeks, staying there, I remember

the towe very w2il We used tostop In to see the shul, the davening, we finelly

Tecided to go ony And then you probably needed the ccoperation of the government,

L don®l remewber lhe detalls because we were brought Lo Budapest,

S0 it was you, your mother and father and a sister,

i Tather's sister and ot that time., yes, another sister who was married, she came
Cor the summer to stay with us, with her little boy, she had a boy of about eight
UBALS . about a year old, He's now in Canada and the husbnad was with her,
Go she was with us too, Two sisters and a little boy, The little boy took very sick,
o much so that in the freight car, where we were for about three days and there
vas a 1ittle water, And the trip took so long bLecause mllitary tyansports had
rriority, Whenever there was a military train sending scldiers to the fronl,..

You¥d be on a aiding,
And that, in a way, helped us because some of the soldiers were very nice, some
A bhem were even Jewlsh and so they gave us bread and they prowghl water, as the

e 1wtk b Flamty ke . . s ey , . s
bradn stopped and they talked about whoere they come Trom, exchanged words and so on,
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During this time, you're talking right now about the beginning of the war,

where were your syupathles?

Ch our sympathics were with Austria Hungary. Of course, Agalnst RHussie, We had
a zood arpument, The Cossacks. The guzhiks, Tn Austris Hungary we had ro, hardly
any anti-BSemitism, There was, in a sense, where the Jew was regarded as, to some
extent; especially the Orthodox Jew, was looked by the German as alien, as strange
in his customs and so on,/E:thad Jews lawyers, most of the lawyers and doctors,
de bhad Jewish professors in the University of Lemberg, We had even a Jewish general
in the Austrian »omy, So that by comparison to Russia we were consldered that we
iive in a free country and it wasg free, In Tact, the Russian Jews fled and Galicia
was the corridor through which they fled, That is why we had a very poor opinion
of' Russian Sews because those who came and some settled were not of the highest
level and some of tvhem ran away from their wives and they came and married and five
years later the wife turned vp with two kids, Se funya gonif, Funya is Russian,

Funyal In what language?

In Yiddish,

Thanya !

L1 Yeas, Yes. Speak to a Galician and say Funyva gonifand see what hes.
.4 T will, I never heard that, I heard of a Russicher hazer,

Ko, Funya gonif,

You don't know the derivation of that?

Wo, ko, But we had, in some lnstances we had bad experlences with the Russian
Juws and the resson whybthat was brought home to me, when I came to Galicia for
ihe First visit to my parents, in 1933, they were amazed to hear that Galician
Jews are not held very high, Wethought that a Galitzianler, a Baitsch, yvou know,
T every home there was a book of Schiller and Goelhe, Like in our house, one

is the Gemorahs and one is the German bhooks,
Ch, you did have,

Sure, we had ne pogroms, We heard about them, 3o my father nas quite annoyed,
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Vus furt die Yidien azol, Die Russicher funya gonif and gey kimt fin

Rusland,

They pointed out a few people who got settled in our town on the way they fkd from
Russia and they got involved in all sorts of things and their wives showed up and
they remarried, So that is why it was brought hcome to me, the low opinion in which

vwe held Russian Jews, It's a saying, you know, everybody is equal but a little more

equal than others, And everybody establishes hierarchles., Mnd we loocked down upon

the Roumanians and the Litwak looked down upon the Polish and the Polish on the

Galicians, ¢.

-3 PBut everybody looked down cn the Russians, I'am talking, within the Jewish communit

‘R Well, T wouldn't say everybody. We didn't make surveys, Fortunately, Thank God

we had no sovicloglists naking surveys.

73 Nog bub I'm saying (Iavghing ) Io the general.,,the Taling was, ..

"®  In general, yes, Suspicion, A certaln suspielon., Now we, of course, I'm sure

my Tather and others were aware that the Russian dJdewsy contributed, preduced great

writers and scholars and scientists and so on,

Tn the same way that the prejudice against Galicians here, too,

L3 Well, I was told never marry a Galitzianer,
+i Yes, it was based on ,..lots of Galician Jews produced many scholars and writers
and even to this very day,...Bubh that's how it is, Everybody wants to,..I don't know
whether T'11 tell you the Roumanisn jokes. A Rouwmanian,..
VB dell, my rabbl is Hungarian and I told him what my mother said, That among the
Russians thexe's a saying - If you have a Hungarian Tor a Ffriend, you don't need
an gnemy, &nd he said, Ho, No. That's a Roumanian,
That's my story. From Israel, a Roumanian girl, a Jewish girl came from Israel,
A very pretty girl, So the relablves right auny...they heard that she was engaged
in soumsnia lir certain operations which were betier not mentioned, And so they
goh very busy to marry her off, So tney found a boy and they got engaged and hefore

the wedding, the marviage, belfore the engogzement, she had a problem, 5hall I tell
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tell him or not, So what do you do when you have a problem? Go to a ruv, So she
dent to a rhbbl and she told the vrabbi, I'i about to be angaged to this man, He's
a rdce young Jdewish boy and I come from Roumania you know, and circumstances, I
a6 left alone without parents and I was poor, olsgeglicht,
5 I slid out,
#3 My problem is thatl whether, shall I tell hiwm, 3o he says, Well, you don*t have
Lo tell him everything, Don't tell him that you come from Rownania,
(laughing ) liow who tells this, the Galicians?
i Mhat story, I hieard here, I don't know whether it's told in Galicia,
That*s very funny,

v

S uell, we came bo Zudapost,..
7 You know what we're coming to here is the end of the tape and that will mean
that we have hoea talking for two hours, and what I'm golng to suggest si that we
Jrobably both could use lunch,jSo I'm golng to stop this now. I'm going to say
Thank you,
Side b _ 000
(Interview continued next day)

You entered the Zyinase, ..

Gymnawsia,

Gymnagie, T thihk iy father must say gymnase, I'm not sure, I'11l check, So you
anatered the gymnazlie in 1911 and whilich is thwyee years before the first world war,
dad 1ell me something about your experiences in the gymnarzic,

Firsty when I entered, I was a 1itile bit forlorn, Ii's a new, bigger ciiy,
Wthozugh to me, 1t was pot really a c¢ity...of twenty thousand people,

How this wag di,..

Sambor, And the other 1ittle town I talked about was Starye Hambor, or old Sambor,
Yiddish, Altshtat, My flrst day, my reception was not very pleasant and a little bit
eamatic and T owrecall that we were gathered in a big hall in order Lo divide us

smong the main building, between the main teullding and a brandh, The school popu-
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lation in the gymnagie expanded in that year, or the year before, They bought
another building in the neighborhooed so they converted into a figlia, Figlia is

the :
a branch, Fielia, And they had to divid¢ students between the main and the figlia,

low, whether tiare was some Justification or not, many people felt that some, not
outright discrimination againsi Jews, but that the elite students came from Sambor
itself, the sons of the local people and so on, were assigned to the main bullding,
And the peoplé from the smaller fowns and the farms, the hicks you know, from the
provinces, were assigned to the figlia, And we didn't like,.,we felt it was,..but
there was some Jjustification for our feeling because the cldest teachers, the mest
experienced teachers stayed in the main buidling, And the yohnger tbteachers, the recer
appointees were assigned to the figlia, We felt it was a drawback, And it was a
draw back, It also had a ceitain advantage for the young teachers were more humane
and human and even closer to us in age, They were iwenty six and twenty eight and
50 on, So there was a friendlier and more informal relagions later on developed,
There was a particular incident that burt me very much, It had nothing to deo with
the schoel as such, I told you ihat there was considerable tension hetween the Jews
gnd the non-Jewish kids.,

+3 Ho, you really didn't expand on that, That was something I wanted 1o talk about,

¥R There 1ls. There is, Now in the elementary school we didn*t feel it as much because
we had nothing to do.,.we came and at one o'clock we left, In gymnazie there was
some afternoon activities, some athletic activitles and so there was more contact,
And during that experience there were certain tensions, But what hurt me on the
first day, as we were gathered in the big hall for purposes of designating who re-
wains here and who goss to ‘the figlda, somebody, I was wearing glasses and we wWore
these hatls, uniforins, The hatls were of the kind,,..did you ever sie a French gendarme
or an Augtrian officer,,,it was round and rather high, And somebody just knocked
it down with the glasses, right off the nose, For no reascn, I suppose. Whether
he was an older stulent who wanted to, like you take core of your frashmen, you

now, it's a foxm of hazing, At any rate, I was shocked, It never happened to me
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efore, In the clewentary school, as I said, to come back, there was tension but
ot as moch and the tension was felt in the last few days of =schooling, Because
there was some Lradition, in the Jast week of wschool, disclpline was loose, The
teachers didn't care and the students {ell, Well they had nothing to fear now,

4o had some btoogh kids From the surrounding villages who alse attended that school
snd bhey used to soretimes gong up on the Jewish kids,

P 0n the Jewish childxen?

Cn the Jewish children, 3¢ we had to or We
~ometimes got together and ganged up in small wayS...

i You did do that,

S Hot wexy much, Jews did not,..neither did they cultivate nor did they admixe
physical strenzth, The argument ﬁas, Vus geht? Haben zich un mit goyim? Shkutzim?
Sulen med furen, Gal avek. (What? Start in fentiles? With Gentile men? Let them
~0 avway, The actual tone and inference hehind this is one of disdain; not having
znything to do with people who don't know any lLetter than to start physical violence,
Ton know, Don*t lLothew, So, we did not,

i7i How you were only eleven when you entered the gymnazle which is really, you were
qust a 1ittle boy,

dell, all the others nere same, They were also eleven,
I know, And actually, 1f you consider that the iime you also spenit in cheder you
pore awsy rom home a good deal of the tinme,

411 the time,
- /1 was away Trow Lomesince,.,that of conrse was o sceat problem as I told you,

Ay Tiyst day in cheder was very ltravaatlc,

Well, T would think so, You were three years old,

That is what I remember, My earliest recollection is of me standing in front of
the rebbitzin's tome, of the deoor and crying,

Grying,

dow Jong, I don't remember, Well, a Tew months later, another dramatic event

Lappened which also affected me and my two brothers, I'm a Kohan, a Cohen,,,and
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a Kohon way ot atay wnder the same roof with a dead,,.wlth a corpse, And, all
I recollect, what I remember is, in the middle of the night, o few pcople grabbed
ve, me and my two brothers and woved ws to anolher house. And, during the sleep ve
didn't know what's what, In the morning they explained it to us, 4 win dled in
thic hoose, under this roofl, I don't remeaber which, And we were yanked out, OF
course we knew, later ong when the explanation was made and we accépted. But it
wis very shocking, particularly, I don't know how my brothers felt, I was young.
T was maybe lhat time three and a half, maybe four years old, And I was the youngesi
id and T was very much attached to my mother,..,

15 {laughing) 1 would think so, at three,

~d  Very much so0, And in addition, my mother suffered from severe case of rheumatism,

1B Your mothexr?

KR Yes, EVery winter she was regularly, at least as far as I can re-
member, immobilized, She was in bed with terrible pains, Sumners she went for
four weeks or six weeks to bvath resorts, The favorite one was Pishchane, which is

s5till, ..
i2  How would you spell that one?

LR Pishtshany,.

CB That would be in Galicia?

i Ho, That would be in 3lovakla bul a part of the Aurstro Hungarian Bmpire, It's not
dr from Bratislava, which 1s the capital city of Slovakia or FPressburg, You referrec
to Fressbueg Yeshiva, It's a famous Yeshiw, At one iime. And that was another
snock, That during the summer wy mwother was torn away from me, She went for five,
six weeks, 1 recall that, later when I was about ten, she took me along onece or
wice, Twice, I think in the summer. But when T was still young, she didn®t, And I
could not count days, how the days when my mother would come back, The days she
HWAS aWdY..

B Who was taking care of,,.during the swimer?

PR My sisters. by grandmother, T had two grandmothers, So this was no problen,

de had no baby sitters in those days., We had two grandmethers live with us,
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And a grandfalber and by the time dbhen T was about three, four...my sister was

probally twelve, fourteen.,.anyway, theore was always an aunt across the street,

There was no problem, But I just missed her,
LB But for you there was a problem,

#R I just missed my mother, I started to count the Shabbosim, That was easier, you

:

see, And when my oldest Lrother was a great tease, And he usdd to tease me, Vie Ei}

Shhbosim? Vie Tiehl Shabbosin? (How many Shabbos?) He used to txy to confuse ne,

and I gounted and T knew that after the {ifth Shabbos, sixth Shabbos, depending,
she'll be back, It was easier for me because 1t's not thirty five or forty, Well,
and then, of course, at eleven I left home, I used to come home only about once
svery twoy three months, for holidays, Yes, but that was true, Now, our gymnazie,
population, student population of the gymawnie, which may have been about, not
more then three hundred...

L2 How many Jews?

R A third,

LA thixd,

i A third were Jews...

LB And this waa a pubiic gymnazle supperted by the Austrian government,

AR Supported by the Austrian government, The language of instruction was Polish but

Ueradinian was tauzht as a language, geermsn was taught as a language, There was a

Jaw in Galicia, ceriaid in eastern Galicls where the large, dominant majority in
the roral aceas was Ukrainlan, The cities were one thixd Polish, one third Ukrainiﬁ
and one third Jewish, Roughly speaking, T don't remember the exact figures, And
there was a law that iFf a majority of the students declared that their mother
tongue is Polish, then Polish %ovams™ the language of instruction with Ukrainian
as a language, subject, IF the majority, anl {here were a few cities where the
majority was Ukrainian, Przemysl for instence was a Ukrainian gymiazie Turka, 1
believe and mayte in other places,

B Trukat
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KU Parka, Tarnopol there was a lazge Ukraindan,,.lbhere were o nunmber of gymnagie
where the larzuage was Ukrainian., Y would say the majority of gymazie in Galicia
even in eastern Galicia, had Pelish as thelt language of instruction, And that
was largely due to the Tact that the Wrrainians didn't have the majority, And
thexrefore, ..nowy the Jewlsh people.,.the Jews were put in a quandry, The Jews
usually sided with the Poles, In most countries Jews looked up to the majority,
to the upper level of people not to the lower, The Poles were in civil service
the welfare, iany cof the estates belonged to the Poles, &nd so that the, in our
school, one third was Ukrainian, one third Polish and one third Jewish, the Jews
by, the parentc, many parents of the Jews, by inclination, voied Folish, They
were closer to the Folish culture, Just like in Bohemias, they were closer to the
German language which the Czechs didn®t like and in Hungary, they were totally
assimilated to the Hungarians culture and language, which the Slovaks didn*t like,
The Slovaks were & very large minority in thwmgary, #nd this was a standing source

of conilict...

17
Al

Irvitation,

W Teritationand conflict, Because the Jews side with the majority, not necessarily
nurberically, the majority of the people, tul with the major sovrces of power,
And T mentionad the other day, we have a similar problem now developing in Quolec,
The French are furlous al the Jews because the overwhelming proportion of Jews
adopt the English language. Some learn Trench because now you need it for business
purposas, Lou omi't be a lawyer in Quebec and appear in court without being bi-
Tingual, Bspecially in the last fifleen years, these was a strong pressuce, Bui
I Mived fTive years, almost five yeavs in lontreal and T didn't lsarn French and

L lemmed English, I learned some French because for a year I attended the French

miversity but there were any number of Jews who lived a lifetime, practiclly,

in Fontrenl or in Quebec city, and didn't know any Freuch except for a few words,

L 1 was thinking about that last night,.vhal you had said, &nd T don®t want to di-

sress now, oot it did ocemr to me, it wouldn®t bhave mtlered what the Jews had -

Ty,
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'R That may e another story. ¥ell, I don’t kunow, Thatl is debatlsable,
L3 All right, let®s not go inte that now, but I°ve written it down ss a point,
' That is possible, 1 agree with you to,..l, myself, for example,.,

-2 Is vet guruisht belfen, (Hothing would be of much help)

LR Yes, The other arpument that's frequenlly used, the dJews are too rich and too
povexrful, if they were poor it would be different, But in Poland there were plenty
poor and they were not liked any more,

B That's right. I mean, it doesn't make any difference,

R Ho, but here there®s a specific interest, Ho, there's no question about it,

“hen a Ukralnian came to the school and he said, We're a third, The Foles are only
a third, Why is the language of instruction Folish?

P il understand the problem, So maybe they should have three languages. There is noé
solulion to snuch a problem, |

"R Ko, you cannol have three langusges of instruction,

a7 DF course unb,

PR New you can have certain courses in addition to the Ukrainian as a language, as
3 subject lanpuage. You can say that history should be taught in Ukrainian and
arithmatlc should be taught in Polish, Bul that would complicate matters,At any
rate this wasn't the case, This led to a great deal of tension later on, As we
grew older, as I entered the second, the ihird, the fourih year, we became rather,
a5 Jews, we became ourselves rather critical and we began to understand, to try
to understand 1hs Ukrainians, It's not really fair that we should lend our vote,
s0 to speak, to over-rule and te help to Folonize and %o deny bthem their right,

.3 How when you'tre talking about "We, as Jews" are you talking about your fellow
students and yoursa107?

LB Fellow sbudents, Hot all, Not all the students. Bub quite a larse number of Jews,
Jewish students, cspecially those who becams Zionist oriented, nationalist oriented

ang in the begimning of the fourth year to the end, which is eight years, we had

a very active Hashomer Hatselr, Jewish boy seout movement,
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i 8o that would be when you wexrs about fourteen or so,

"R That's right, 4nd, finally, I recall, it must have been when I was about fifteen,
in the fifth year, we began sort of trying to change that situation, Now the
census or the survey, the language survey was taken every yer, The last woek of
the school year, the principal or the assistant principal came in and he agked
everybody, What is your mother tongue? In Polish you dm't say Mother tongue, You
say, father's lJanguage, Yenzik poichista, Yenzik means language, Peichista is
saternal, father, So we declided, a group of us, not all Jews by any neans,; be-
canse some of lhe Jewish kids in the gymnazie were thofoughly and enthusiastically
assimilated as Foles, And thelr parents were already assimilated, They spoke Polish
&t home, s0 when they were asked what is your paternal tongue, they said, Polish,
They didn®t lie, and we had nothing against them, although we didn't approve or
we didn't agree with them but in many ways they were oubtside of ocur cirecle, He
were the majority, So we decided o say, Jewish, To answer to the question, What
is your paternal tongue, to say Yiddish or Jewish, Zhidovsky, So the assistant
principal said, and we expected, we antlicipated that, the Austrian country, the
Austrian census, doss not recognize Yiddish as a language, It was called a jargon,
Je knew that, 3o we sald, In case, in the event of our answering that question,
in the event of our ansﬁer being rejected, which we knew that it would be rejected,
we would say Hebralsky, Hebrew, So he sald, Do you talk to your father in Hebreu?
Pell the truth. 30 we said, No, Then of ccourse it is not & true answer, We cannct
acéept that. So whai happened wes, he went to the office and enlered Polish for
a1l +the Jewish kids, But there was some {rouble, One day, I was mayle sixteen,
ire did the sawe thing, so be said, he asked to bring the parents, the fathers,
vot the mothers, the fathers, to school, to the prinecipal, So I said, Well my
Father doesn't Tive lere, He lives about [ifteen miles away, Secondly, I don®t
cnow bow my fathor ulll talk to you and how rou will talk to my father, He doesn't
urderstand Felizl: very much, He speaks some Ukralnlan only enough to communicate

#4ilh the peasant when he has to sell what he has to sell, So I said, [ don'l know

what pood that interview ﬁill bring, He thought that this was a facetious answer,
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My father ¢idn®t come and he probably entered Polish, Now there were other
tensions. Soue had nothing to do with Jews against non--Jews, but in every class
there vere a :ow boughies, who used thelr nuscle or tried . to use their musecle
intimidation, grabbing a sandwich,; not much, but...4nd sometimes, when we noticed
for instance, that the main targets were are Jewlsh kids, we trled to organize to
counter-act, Mot pbysically, There mey have been some physical,.,but the main form
of muf sell defence was to use our intellectual standing, not +o help the other
kids in their homework, Not to let them copy during examinations and sort of
boyeott them, That was a great help because, in most instances lhe Jews were good
gtudents, And certainly, they were always better students than the toughies, Be-
cause the toughies used,,.,oso we organized that,..

Lo At that time, you were there elght years?

IR Eight years, Bilghl years, Really seven and a hall years, becauge more than half
a year we were away in Bulapest as refuzees when the gympazie was under Russian

cceupation,
I3 Fou mean durinz the war,
HR In 1914,
L2 Yes, But what I, the peint I wanted to bring out here is, did vou, during all
that time otill have your pais pasted back?
#R o, ne, lo,
L3 Did you cut them?
i1 Ahhh! As soon as 1 passed,
Ly Ab, That's what I wanted to know, Thats what happened to most of the boys,
NEoas o matier of facth, let wme tell you an interesting incident, T told you I took
the exam lote in August, the end of August, Tie firsl week, ‘&hool started in
Zaptenber, and Rosh Hashana was about two weeks afler school opened, I had
to get home aad T already didn't have the pais, And I had my uniform, Well, I
worddntt dare to go to shul, Bosh Hashena, in uniform, That was out of the questir
I could pul ox my civilian uniform, my civilian,,,

LB Did you wear a daftan also, when you vere home, as a little boy? What was your

)
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clothing?

1 Mo,

=% Just trousers and a shirt?

4 Trousers and a shidrt and a Jacket and a tellis ¢ boitsis, That we had
to have,

1 You wore that,

0 Sometimes, the First few years we wore it over the shirt and then when I entered

syimasie, ..

-4 You tucked it inside,

.2 Roy, net only that., Becawse In gymnazie we had, once or iwice a week we had
gymeastics, And in gymnastiés you had to lale off your shirt, And I wouldn't want

Jewlish

o be seen with the tsitsis, Because most of the/kids didn®t have it, They came
from more assimilated homes, So 1 had mine in my pocket, Sa as not to be without
it, In wy pocket, This way I...

3 Tt mekes a problem, You'zre caught between two worlds,

1 I took out insurance, by keeping it in wmy pocket,

i3 Right, ah! 50 you did cub the pais off?

i I end the pais off and I recall distinctly, as we were walking to shul, my fathexr
gas walking and my older brother, the oldest brother was in the Yeshiva,
and my brother wss on a Jjob in Sambor, so he didn't come home for Rosh Hashana,
fd I came home, And as we were walking to the shul, in the market square, a Jow
came glong. His name was Shoil, Sul Roth, He was an old man, He was a very strong
Belner Hasld, And he was a devoted fripnd of my grandlfalher who was a Belzer Hasid

and he, sort of; was a sell appointed trustee of my father's

correctness in Tollowing the footslens of his Father, Hobody appoinied him, He
liked to admonish and since he was thivty years older than my father so he had
the authority of age and the auwthority of his close friendship with his father,
S0 he looked at wmy father and he looked at me, without the palis, and he spat,

Thak was, .. L didn 't know what to do wilh myseif. These things stick to your

mind, This happened about sixty eight years age, sixty six years ago.
T know, Did your father sa¥y anything when you came home without the pais,
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or your mother?
\i* Oh no, He anticipated it, He knew i, Because he was in on the concealment,
on the disguise,

You mean for ihe matura?

t

R Ho, not for the matura. Mathra means at the end of the...

[y

Ch, for the entrance eXxam,

.4 For the entrauce exam, My mother, you see my wother didn®t talk much, She
czrried her grievances inside, Now, I don't lknow how she felit, Probahly if she
had had her cholce, she would have said, Den%t, for a nunber of reasons, First of
21l, yvou go away from home, Because if I had stayed I would have been two more
years in that 1ittle Altshtut, in the neighboring school, I would be home every
Shabhos and after that 1 would have heen homey just like my older brother, helping
out and so on, Secondly, my mother was illiiterate and she knew the prayers by,ee
Trom nenorizing, She couldn't write, Wot even in Hebrew, And that
was o source also of tension between the two families, My father came from town,
He was a learned man, His father was a learned man, in Yeshivas, And my mother’s
Tather was a pessant, 1 mean a Jew who bullt a Tarm, a very strong man, very
pious, very devetnd, very honest but not sophisticated and not knowledgeable in
satters of Halakhe, Gemorah,,.fy father lookel down a bit on this whole environment
and my Tahter®s mother, who lived with us, she died in 1915, she survived her hus-
pand by seventeen years, she lived with us, She was alsoe a learned wowman, She
inen all 4.1 1im Ly heart,; the prayers by heart, She was blind, Since I remember
her she was biing, I suppose, neglected catarscls or something like that, 8he was
good in weaving stockings, so she supplied the whole family with socks, She was
=itting there For hours, chanting tWiillim, tehillim andpraying. She was very
religious. We used to play all soris of tricks on her, FPesach was a grest,.,..
everything chumetsz had to be thrown out and she used to put iittle cloih on the

on 1 e door knobw, maybe chasvachalilal, there was a little bit of

sread there, or chumetz, it shouldn®t tough it,
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So we used to kid her, We vsed to find a1l sorts of things. Ve used to say,
Dubba, Bubla, Bubba and she gol scared and trisd to see sonme-
thing and tried to touch it, Latedron, of cowrse, we laughted but, al any rate,
she tou, looked down upon these peasants, this peasant environment,

1R B0 your mother had to live in that envivenwent, actvally,

NROOWell, yes, dell it was difficult, yes, And T don't know how, maybe 1'm imagining
riow more than it was, but they were, no doubdt...

LB IF you remember it this long, there had to e something,

R ‘Mhee were tensions., There®s no doubt about it, I remember again a tension, during
when the war bLroke out, we fled. We came btack, We had an aunt, Hy father had a
sister, Rachele, who lived in town, Her husband léft for America in 1913. He was
poor and pricy to the war communication was open between the United States and
Austria Hungary, he sent some money to help support her and we supporied her,
de sent her food from the farm.,.

(g of ‘tape)
Side 6 000

»3  How you were talking aboul the support of your sister, that your father supported
her and then he wanted then to take one 0f' her children inte the bhome, your home,
dow your mother refused and you sided with your mother, as you did in general,

And that your father, you sald, very olien became vituperstive, And that this, in
birn, reacted upon your own development,

i T recall other instances where confrontations between one of my sisters and my
Tathex, I had two sisters, Une was Just like my mother, Quiet, charming way
The other one, waz hetter looking, the yower one was better locking, stronger
aud did not shy away Trom a fight., On the contrary, somtimes she
And there used Lo be sometinmes wnpleasant scenes, yelling and,,.between father

sil sister, One lwsue, for instsnce, was in 1910, Ve declded o btuild another
house, I was born in an old building., That bullding was bullt by cerf labor and

was of stone, And the wallsz were very damp, I was cold, In fact, the doctlor
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at times said, lbat my mother®s rheumatisnm was probably due to the dampness of
the building, it was difficult to heat and so on, So fianglly, business improved,
my father made come money so he said, let us build another building abou one hun-
dred yaxds away, We had a big land aread around his factory (7) and then the con-
troversey was over whether we should have small little windows on the top of the
big windows, coming from the attic, there was an attic- the attic should also have
what do you call 1it.,,

LB lLike dormers,

AR That's right, That's right. Doxmers, My father opposed it. Not becamse it would
have cost a 1little more., That was notl the problem, But I don't want to oifreisen
die oigen of the neighbors and of the officials, Don't arouse the snvy bf the

neighbors and they would  &ay that Sholem Relch, my father's name was Sholem,

that Sholem Reich is reicher, not only his nams but he is rich, and the fiscal
officers, people who assess taxes; would promptly raise the tax, There was some
historical truth, It's very interesting how long institutions or practices that
existed two hundred years azo left thelr imprint, I understand that in the Middle
Azes, 1n many countrles, including probably Foland, the tax was based on the number
af windows,

1B Is that right?

xR That is right, That was true in France, Because windoms were expensive , They were
a luxury. And my father didn't know that, but sort of,..

He knew it,

s

R He knew it, He says, Ich vill nisht, (I dont want)to arouse, to contribute, to

cause the envy of nelghbors, And over thal there was a big fight, My Tather won,

ot the sister, Dut they were quarreling and arguing back and forth, particularly
hecanse one 0f our neighbors in the other village, in Spas, who was sort of, formerl
a rival of my father, a business rival and in many other ways...he built a house
and he has these,..s0 my sisters sald, Wé should have it tco and that caused all

sorts of ey
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.B  Bul you know, the ability to make a decision and to stick to it and bthen to
walk away from a confrontation, 1s not necessarily...a weakness,

SR I don't reganl it as a weakness, On the contrary., In some ways, I don't want
to descend to their level even, Now, I started 1elling you about this TFederation
the conference T attended of the Federation of Polish Jews and the people, the
audience started booing. It was all right. He offended them,; because to come to
a Jewish meeting which was overwhelmingly Zionist and nationallst, when mny of
them were réfugees from the Soviei Union and from Poland, And to come and to say
that the Soviet government is not.e.

LB That there’s no anti-Samitism,..

iR But one fellow jumped up from his seat and ran to the stage, to the dais from
which this man wag speaking and was ready to hit him, So of course people held
Iiim back and the chalrman asserted his auwthority and it passed over, But the inter-
esting part of it is, I went there, of course, I wanted to meet a friend of mine,
he used to go to gymnazie with me and now living in this country, He asked ne,
I'm vice president of thai organization but I don®t attend meetings, I don®t hother
with it, They don't expect me there, But he called me that he's coming from iong
lgiand, he's also a year older and he doesn't come to Manhattaﬁ often and we see

We used to see each other

2uch other.g.;/every three or four months now we see each other once a year,
S0 he said he's coming and his wife is coming, I should come, My wife dldn'*t comee.
S0 at the end of the meeting he said, Do you know, this fellow who jumped from his
seat and ran to the dals ready to hit him comes from my town, from Sambor,.,I didn?
know even that . knew him, because I left Sambor, He left Bambor in 1940, And he
was the life-long most extreme Communist in town, Which is very interesting, You
have to be extremely..,if you're a communist, if you're an extreme communist, ;iu

become antli-,,.you become an extreme antl-commmbt, So I sadd, I'm not surprised,
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Bocause a man given to extrerme violent reaction,..doesn®t matter the cause for
which he engapges in vieclent reaction, He Just changes the icon, But it fequirsgs
the same worshlp and the samne...

LB Well his personality doesn't change. It's Just that, as you say, the icon,..

2t The Nazis, the growth of the Hasl party in the *30s for instance, there was a
considerable flow of membership from Hazi to Communist and from Communists to Nazis,
Seldom from Soclal Democrats fo Nazis or from Nazis to Soglal Democrats, or to a
demecrat bourgeols party. Bxtremes attract,..

LB Welly I have the feeling they go full circle and they meet around at the bhottom
Sa, now, let's go hack to the gymnaszie,

R We'll go bhack to the gymnaszie,

L3 Now tell me this.,.during those years, 1f you were to give any sort of label,
at all, to your leanings.,.l mean, they weren®t Marxist and, now you came From,
actually from wn Hasidie background, were they Zionist?

4 Vell, they were naticnalist,

i3 wWhich nationalist? They could Le Polish,.,

it Jdewish natlionalist,

"8  They were Jewlsh nationalist,

it 1 was never,,..in principle, I was opposed to assimilation, And I bhave always
regarded it as undignified, to give up your roots, I still get furious if smebody
il T sese somebody whose name was Finkelstein, it becomes all of a sudden Stone or

even to this very day, Faybe I'm wrong, some pecple have got
other motives to do ihat, other reasons, so that I was alwasy,; as far as I can
remember, I was always in favor of retaining a Jewish identity.

i Row was this true in your family asz well?

Wi In omy Tamily Lhis was no problemn,

.8 There was ne guestion,

LR Hy father know, your're a Jew, you're a Jew, he problem of who 15 j;a Jew...

it®s only when you move cut that it becowes a problem,

t W
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4R Well, when I came to gymnazie and I met those young Jews who consclously adopted §

the language and culture and all of the Pollab people, of the Polish peple,
I retvnr liked that, never agreed with them and I didn't get into any fights with

them but I shied away,

Ny

LB Were you a mentor of Hasiooen 53 lseist

" Tes; I was. I was a member; one of the founding members of Hashomer Hatselr and
I was for ahout a year, believe it or noti, I was the leader of the girl,..

~EE You were? Thai must have been fun,

IR Yes, I still have a picture of ninely [{ive givls and myself, Some of them are nowg
still alive in lsreel and on my visits I see some of them, Well, you see the gymnazﬂ
there did not offer very much in the way of exira curricular school zctivities,

Very littie,

B Where did you live in Sambor?

ik We boarded,

B Where did you boaxd?

Nk Families took in teo, three boarders,..The first place where I boarded wasg with
my brother who was about four years older, He finished, or didn't finish, dropped
out from a commercial high school hut knew enough of bookkeeping and ityping snd
helped by my father's pull, you see my father was a buyer of liquor from this
refinery, liguor refinery, 50 he had a job in Sambor, And he lived with two other
young people alsc who had jobs, clerks and so on, Bo when I came the first year to
gambor, I was taken in by the same family, 11 was very nice family R
She was a very nice woman, They were poor, The husband was a good for nothing and
later on he uurved a Jall sentence because he tried to make a living by hearing
false witness, in courts, and he was caught, In fact, he introduced me, indirectly
It was his father, this man®s father, had a clothing store and the first thing
that T had to do after 1 passed my exam before entering school, ¥ had to get a
uniform, Black trousers and a blue Jjacket with stripes. One silver stripe for the

first year, two silver stripes, three and four and then one gold stripe for the

{ifth year and four gold stripes until you finished, So when I decided to move
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in with my brother.,.first there were three in the room. Mow there will be four
in the room and so my brother suggested that the husband, the father in law of
the woman, she was a very nice person, that he has a clothing store. I should go
there aud buy it there., There were only about iwo or three in the city that had
i{hese uniforms,..stores in the city that seld these uniforws., So this, so I said,
ine and we agresd to come at a certain hour to that store, So I came during that
hour and the old man waan't in, He was rewlly an old man, And this, hls son
atiended the business, Mnd he sold me, And I paid him about ten kroner; roughly
A week or
about five sin doilars for the Jacket., And I walked out./Two weeks later the old
man came to visit his daughter, Marcus's brother, My
Vrother's name was Marcus. Oh, the pants, hmmm, VWhere did you buy those things,
I said, I bought it at yourplace, This man never deposited the money,

L His son)

i That's how I was introduced to...YWell, as I said, I entered gymnazie with some
trepidation, First of all 1 still was not sure about my Polish language, pronuncia-
tion and so on, 1 entered with a certain infericrity, a feeling of inferiority,

And partly because of that, came Decomber, I tock ill,
Oh. The stress you mean,

v ¢ I don't know, 3o do whait the doctor said, Stay home and my mother, T lost w2izish
and my mothey should cook chicken and chicken soup, milk and fatten me up and after
a month I should come back to schoel, I went home and they fattened me up and
imeanwhile I was, took along the beoks. I anticipated what, because by the time I
came back in December I knew the whole year®s work, 5o that was no problem, Then

spealing
55 1 was usad to it and acquired fluency in/Folish and I acquired a certain con-
Midence, security, I did very well in my subjects and I liked my tuior, so even
the first year, the Jatter part of the semester of the first year, some of the
students were coming to me for help, And 1 bhelped them out. I used to be vexry
qotd in the evaluation of students, [ was a teacher before I was born, I started

Lo tutor when - was about eleven or twelve yeaxrs old, My wife was She
Jgos o teacher alse for about fifteen years, Together, between the two of us,
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e have one hundred and bwenty years ol teaching,

T 1g that right?

50 I developed the practice of grading students, as they were answering, as

they were called upon by the teachers to recile and answer in history, in Folish
literature or for example, in algebra at the board, I used to grade the students,
snd every month there was a conference, on Sunday there was a conference and one
sarent had to show up and the teachers there and they reported on the progress of
students, How in my case, the woman where we boarded came, because my Father never
nothered. He never came, My father never was inside the gymnazie, Weither my mother
nor my father. Nobody! Because it was outside of thelr range of interest, and in
most intances if & student got poor grades with me, the teacher reported poor grades
.o the parents,

1% In other words, they would use your evaluation as a basis for a meeting with the

parent,

4 What they aye 1o expect, And usually, at the end of the year, ofcourse we got a
letailed report card in every subject, and the grade listed in every subject., And
3f course, out curiouvsity, we compared my grade,,.they came a week before, What do
you think I'1ll pet in this subject? I said, You'll get excellent, Ve didn'l have
nuabers, e just ol excellent, good, fair, msatlsfactory, Just four grades, And
in most insdances ny grade and evaluation cuineided with what they finally got.
I that gave me g certain position in school, At the end of every year the gymnazie
mblished a report, And the report contained lists of names of all the students in
all the grades and those with an excellent grade are listed on top. Sometimes a
number of these were in black print, later on they eliminated the black print but
they stiil listed them separately, Just like cum laude or magna cum laude, I was
in that category all my elght years, So that helped me too,

oB o Bssentially even though you were on your own, because you were really separate

ang distinet from your family,
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<4 In gymiazie, completely, That'’s what I'm saying., My mother didn't have the
slightest notion of the subject maliers and I knew and. the only reason
that my mothoer baed for sending me to school, te elementsby school,,.firvst of all,
vou had to do it., The law required it, Secondly, it's good that you should be
able to read and write, Me darfl kemnen lezen und schrelben, #le darf schreiben
a brief, you know, {One must know how to read and write, Sometimes you had to
weite a lebter...) If you got engaged you had write letters to your fiancee,

sehreiben a brief, You know, in every home them Is a brief shteller, You know

what a brief shteller was? A letter writer, sample letters,

<3 Chy that I didn’t know,
4k Oh, sure, Sample letters, And they Tavghtius a little bit of writing letters

home also in cheder, The rebbe sat down, Schreib a brief gum tata, zu die mama,

Lieber tata, ba mir, ilch bin geguni, Ba mir iz alles gut, Es vel zein gut fun dirx

zu_heren, (Deaxr Tather or mother, I am weel, Everything is fine, It would be good

to hear from you,) Sometimes theg tell stories _ it would staxrt,
Ich hab a buch veitip und a kup veltigz fun dir zu heren, (I have &
somach ache and a head ache )

It's like the letters from camp that theye,.

That's right, Just like letters from camp, And I got that from mother directly
afber I finished with matura, I began talking about going to the wniversity. MNow
T told you the reasons yestevday why I wasn®t admitted to the Polish university.

No we didn't really get into that. Now your stay in the gymnazie was interrupted
zTter, . you entered in 1911, In 1914 the war broke out...

Yeg, but I just wanted to say sald this. Look, Nutan, Hast gegangen in shkole,
in gcheol, and by shikole you meant elementary school, zu lernen schreiben, HNuch
dem hist du arcin gegangen in gymnazium olslernen besser zu schreiben, To wite
bebter. lu, vus darf men nuch, nuch dem gymnazium? I talked about the university,
sid they said, Vus, vet sein an avocat? Zug ich, MNein,

That! 1 don't widerstiand,
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You want to be a lawyer? To go to the university meant that you want to pursue

vrofession,

i

Say it in Yiddish again,
Du vidst zein an advocat, Zug ich, Nein, Ah doktor, eich nishit, I was interested
that I took
Just in my first courses/at the university when I got there was philosophy and
selence and all that, Learning for the sake of learning, I did have certain ideas,

S0 wy mother couldn*t understand., Lernen zu schreiben, Besser schreiben, Vus nuch?

(To learn to write, To learn to write belter, What else?) And egrecially &tnis was
ir
tied up with some risk, because 1 said that/I cannot go to gymaszie in lemberz I

would go Lo Vienna or to Prague, which means getting a passport. Thal was not

possible,

5 You mean a university, not a gymiazie,

A wpiversity. I°1) txy...this means crossing the borxder illegaly. Ui, veh, Shing-

[

meh vet dir hargenen, Meh vel dir khappen. Ahh! To go back to gymnazie,

gling gdch;

{0y, vou will suuzgle yourself, They will kill you. They will catch you, )
ya

e Thecbreaks OUtess
The war broke out in August 1934, On June the 28th ny sister got engaged,
21 In 1914,

In 1914 and we came home for the cngagement, I came home from school, Gymnazie
slosed, At the end of June it's closed, MY brother who had a job in Saumbor also
came with me this time because he wanted Lo attend the engagement, The engagment
party, meet the young man to whom she's engaged, And I remember the train came home
in the afterncon, to the station, walked from the statlon and my brother was about,
I was about fourteen, He was seventeen, He was a good looking man, He was handsome,
fe dariing of a1l the women, So he was priming himself and I never cared about
these things. But he was a nice guy. ¥We got along very well, For a year 1 roomed
with hinm L moved away, And the engagement lasted late into the night and

shout twelve ofelock or so, maybe even later, o veasant knocked at the door,.
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The peasants came down €rom town when they heard that there's going to be a lot
of trouble hecause the Aychduke and helr 4o the throne and his wife were assassinated
womevhere, he didn't know where, in Bosnia. That was the day of the engagement,
hatts wiy it sticks in my mind. And then, but nobody expectedd a war, ¥We had
crisis over Bosnia tefore in 198, The Dalkans always were a little Haxrs
~nd 50 on, That didn't stop my motber from going to Ivonyich which was another
summer resort, |
Ivonyich? That's also in Slovakia?

.t o, That'®s in Golicia, And this is the rewson why she went, It was nearer, If
war should come and she had to come back, so Ischannye was far and this time she
ook me along. I wont with ber, And in Ivonyich, after we stayed there for about
a3z weeks, no less Lhan that, Paxrt of July., Bul it musit have been about three,
“our vecks and then the war came, And we immediately packed to get back home and
it was a long way ‘o get home, By the {time we goi io Sambor, which was the depot,
we me'l military trains already of mobllized soldlers and we met a cousin already
n uniform from Starye Sambor, Jjoining and later on killed on the Italian front,
nd we came howme, |

pE On-the jtalian front,

~ 1 Right. ke was killed on the Italian front,

Ly That's what my 3aliciman friend said,

. Isonzo, Big betile, That was the place or the river, I don't know,

Lo So you went back to your village then?

L Yes, And of course school didn't open, We Tled,

OLd the Russians get to your village?
Ot yes, They were there for about slx months,
They wera. .0 teee yen thers ducing that time?

o, Ve fled, Wo escaped the Rugsians, de {Mled,

:l

Trat®s when your father took your mother and you and your sisters and you finally

woud up in Budauvest,
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~#  Finally wound up in Budapest. Py uncle who lived scross the street in the
village, also tried to run away, And be was too late. By the time he was away
I'rom home the Russians cavght him and they sent him back, And he was taken hos-
tage, The Russiang took hostage leading Jews from every town who were held res-
persible for any act of disloyalty to the; to ussiaes.

23 1t the communal responsibility thing,

i ahout twelve Jous were taken away, My father vould have been one of them, So
in this respect bhis judgement, which some people thought nas premature, including

+y mothery who, Vu loift men? Vu furt wen? {Where are we running? where are we

coing?) provex]l right, And my uncle stayed in kKussia, in Yenza, which is in Central
tussia wnbil the Bolshevik, until the Hevolution,

2L 1s that rignt? Bid that happen to a lot of Jews, do you think? ‘Were they sent
Lo Penza and then released after the Revolution?

w0 Well, I don't Imow il a lot, but the hostages from our town were sent to Penza,
T all of them were sent to Poanza, I don't kuow,

We're going to talk about that later, All right.

di 80 he came home in 1917, Le came home also, he was a very shrewd man, Very good
Dusness man, Here he would have been owning a super market, There he had a littlle
iwo by four grocery, And he came home with a jot of rubles, Paéked, padded (?)
st they became worihless,

They were (wzarist rubles or were they

It

o They were Gzarist rubles,

They also bad lhe Kerensky rubles,

The KerensKy rubles, But they became worthless, But he came home, He survived,
Fow what happencd, Tour grandmother was left behind,

by grandmother was lefl behind. And she died,

During the Russian oceupation you mean?

During the Russisn occupation, Hybfather tock her to the town where her sister

tived, fe left her with ber daughter. But she was in the eighties, So that was the
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only member of ovur family who reached the ripe old age of elghiies. Fost of them
died at sixty eight, sevenly,
How when the Russians occupied your town, you were not thexre,

1 1 never gaw a Russian in my life, This is soldlers. But 1 saw prisoners, Prisoners
of war,

S0 what you then knew was {rom hearsay, What did they say bappened in your village
whan Lhe Rugsians uccﬁpied it?

LA Afker we come back? Nothing much,.

23 Hothing muche

43 Hothlng muche They,; the Jews established a modus vivendl and of course, in the
Leginning there was fear and they tookthe hostages,, Now my aunt never knew what
happened to him, There was no communication,

3 'That's the {irst time Ive heard that, I never heard that before,

Wt They never exPecﬁed to see them alive, And there were about ten or twelve I be-
lieve, 4nd they had physical hardships and the Russian soldiers looted a little

but there were no killings, no pogroms,
=5 30 they were not such chazerim as I have heard from other people,
dell, that depends, They were chazevrim in the sense that I said they looted and
mayhe there was occasional beating, but when we came back we Aidn®ft hear of a
BN L, 0y

3 Was your house still standing?

i Uo the housz was not standing but that was duve, we were itold, to fighting, We
weve in the foothills and there was fighting over, shooting and camnon fiving over
the ares, &nd the house,,.we found the roof, The roof was a tin roof, The structure
of the house was wood, Now ithey tell us that the house was damaged, but the
neighbors and the Russian soldiers used the wood to make fireplaces,

3 Oh, there was nobody in the house,

A4 ‘There was notody in the house, The basins where the eggs were,..were cpened,

#o '3 Jocked them up and father even appointed a guard
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they opened it up
“he Russians came in/and they saw the eggs and sometimes, we were told, some

of the soldiers took sick because they began ealing en masses..
~.. Go proteclt against a war,

Jdii That®s right, How in Budapest,,,

Waif, I want to finish with your village, if you don't mind and then we'll come
tack to Budapest., How long were you away from your village?
of Until May,
You mean the Russians were gone in a month?

No, no, ne, We fled in October and we stayed from October to May in Budapest,

b

A1l right, That's October, November, December, January, February, Harch, April,

(AY..othat's eight months,

Well, in Budapest itself, only seven,

# I mean from the village, you were absent about eight months, And during that

“ine the Russians came in and then, were they pushed out by the Austrians or by

he Germans?
They were pushed out by a Joint campalgn of sustyians and Germans,
ALY right, And then,,.do you know when #%he Austrian-German troops came in,

sonroximately?

5 I our town? dell, we followed them., Within a month we were home,

1

ke1l, lel's say about May, they came in, Right?

Right, The counter offensive of the combincd Austrian German army started around
caril, In Fay we heard.,. (Tape ¢licks )

All right, You say the Germans and Austrians launched a counter offensive in
-eridl,

By #ay they had chased the Russians beyond our village,

tas there fighting in your village? Do you know?

lio, Ho, The fighting was when the Russians came in, for about three weeks,

iner the village, so that, for instance, peeric who stayed in the village, my

ol

vy WhO stayed and the peasants around, said that for about tvo or three weeks
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they 1ived in busements, ind at nizit Lhey got cut and dug up sonme potatoes,

23 Yes, My Father would tell that stoxy too,

kR But that lasied only about,,.

{lape ends)
Side 7 000

st 3o we were home elther the end of May or the begiloning of June, Not the whole
family. Because when we heard that our area was fyeed, liberated, by that tine,
one of my hrothers found a Job in a mumitions factory which paid well and it éx-
empted him from military sexvice, which was an inducemdnt., So that my father and
mysalt camne home first, The two sisters, one sister was married, sicne she had a
child she cauldn"£ travel immediately and her husband who was separated during
the flight, Pinally remnited, He was in another town so he fled in another direc-
tion, Dut finally the whole family reunited after some effort. Very interesting
how we got the information, We didn’t know but one way of getting information was
Lo go to the mailroad iterminal in Budapest and military irains arrived., and I use
to walk from car to car and stop soldiers and say, Where do you come from? Do you
come from Calicla? Do you come from there? And among them there were Jews coming
from there and they heaxrd, Yeh, ich hab gehert. Fr iz
ind that is bow we pui together and after six weeks we were all reunited,

Lb That's very interesting,

MR Except one, oidest brother, who fled with his wife and a young kid, at that tim
they Just hac a little baby, They left, they fled to Prague and they stayed in
Frague for the remainder of the war, He gol some work and after the war he came
back to ocur village and he,..

L3 Could ycu...when a Jew was in widform, b that time, could you still tell he
wan & Jew?T

L Yell, sometines. kot all the time, Hot always, NHot always,

LB But if you wet a Jew on lhe strest, for cxample, would you know & Jew? Out of
uniformn?

ki Well, like & walked today in most Instances I make a taks a guess,
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BT make a Jjudgement too,

R I make a Judgement, yes, fometimes I'm wrong, most of the time I don't know,

B Mell, you can't always assess the correctness of your evaluvation, either.

4R Well, I did not stop, Are you Jewish? I met a soldier, 1 talked to him in POlish..

Ile didn't wnderstand Folish, I started Ukrainian, German..,and then after a few,
certainly after we exchanged a few woxds, 1 knew that he was a Jew,

(BT understand, It*s Just a very interesting way of commumicating,

SR My nephew told us a story. My nephew liwves here, Riva's nephew, iy wife's
nephew, He was...n0, not my nephew, My frieﬁd. He said he was in the subway, An
old woman comes over to him, Excuse me, Ave you Jewish? He says, Yes, What time is
it?

2B That®s marvelous, (Tape off,)

LB So as soon as we heard that the area was liberated we went home, Myselif and fathex
He took me,

1.3 Now were the Germans there in control?

“R o, the Apstrian government was in control, There were German itroops, Some German
troops.

L% How we have asked all of those who remember thelr towns being occupied by the
Ceyman troeps, what was the behaviour of the German troops?

% You did not have any occupation by German troops. We had, undoubtedly some German
some scattersd German officews and German unlits, supply units, But the Austrian
government was restorsd immediately to full control, And in our area, via, the
control was vl thz Folish officials, slarosta was the representative for the dis-
triel of the Austrian government, There was no question, But I understand, of course

s0 to speal,
tiist the towns, the enemy towns,/the Rusmian which were occupled by the Germans,
the clties, Warsaw and Lodz and so on,

SH O Warsaw for oxample,.,

1 There of coursc the Russian governmenl was immediate}y, or the government from

the Russian was immediately removed and they were wnder German occupation,
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#1though there #23 some self goverhment, There was 8 mayor,..

;.3 Ho, bubl we were mostly interested in how the Jews perceived the Germans,

R Thay behaved very well, The Jews perceived the Germans as liberators. No
aquestion,..this was generally universal, S0 much so, that in a way the Germans
went out of their way to win over the Jews, For instance, that was the day of the
Balfour declaration, fnd the Balfour dedaralion made an enormous lmpact on the
Jews and the credit went to England, England was the enemy of the Germans, And the.
Germans went out of their way to also make similar promises, For instance, they
all their posters that they published in Yiddish, I understnad, I didn®t see it,

I understand that even the passport had some Yiddish, The Germans issuded passports
that had some Yiddish,

23 You mean to thelr German nationals, or to thelr Polich,..

IHO Moy to the Jewish nationals in Poland, To the Jews in Poland, Ié order to win
then over. By comparison with the Czarist government, the Germans were more
afficient. Jews had the lingulstic facility to communicate with Germans, I lived
for about halfl a year in Germany, ¢n a Fullbright, visiting professorship, in
Frankfurt, Rive was with me too, She doesn'’t know German, But with her Yiddish
she managed very well, to buy and shopping. That was a scurce of communication
and contact, Then as I told you, certainly in our part, Jews weie ralsed on Hebrew
nulture, religlous culture and literature., They, some Jews went beyond that,jﬁgied
o have a tashe for bhe non-dewlsh culturé, it was German, So that in our house,
topetber with the schafe,..you know what o schale 1s7 Where you kep books,

A bookcase?

A bookease, & pghafe. Together with the schafe for the Gemorah for the twenty
Four voluches or whatever, leather bound Talmud and other Hebrew books, There was
A sehafe containing volumes of 3chiller, Gowther, Grillparzer, German,,.

Grillparzer was an Ausirian, wasn'’t he?

Well, Germen speaking, So that my sister, for instance, recited pages of Schiller

Keute muy der glockenstipieler, something lile that, I still remember, Not Tolish,




“athan Helch side 7 091 pe 78 B

Tt was only aftey I went to gymnasie that I acquired a knowledge of Polish litera-
ture, Becalse woe had to stuly it And so we all
1 s%ill remembver the first lines of Fan Fan vas
lhe leading epic wribten by fdczkeviez, Miczkeviez was a leading Folish poet,

3 Now whal's the name please? Pan Taduesz., Thaddeus in #Znglish. And that’s a poen?

1 That ls a poem, An epic poem of several hundred pages in which lilezkewicez expresse
his devetion, dedication and praises the glories of Polish culture, lithuanian,.,
he was part Lithuanian and part Pollish, They say his grandmother was Jewish,
{Quote from the poem in Polish)...My fatherland, you will appreciate it only when
you lose it, I'oles were losing their liberty aflter the partition,
Hiszgkevicz was a very interesling person, a nystic, he developed a theory of
Folish messlanismn, Just llke the Jews had a similar theory,. The Foles are the
chosen people, :.d he had all sorts of dreams, At any rate, you may vecall that
about five, 9ix years ago there wewe riots by students in Wersaw, Because they
produced, dramatized a poem by by Hiszkewles, Dladye. Diagye means 0ld people,
srandperents or sometning like 1t, Delady. An old men, Delady is the plural,
And that poem also romanticlzes abeout Poland, The devotion to Poland. And people
ir dawsaw took it av an appeal to Folish patriotism against Russia, Ruasis,
soviet Russia, Or Russia, Toles don't like ihe Russians, in any form, in any
shane whatsnever, T was there seversl times during the Communist regime in Warsaw
ity v

nj 30 if a Jew had s cholce, now, he would go.,.if he were to aszimilate to some
axtenl, Would he choose Polish, German,,,or would he choose first Polish, then
Ceerrpenn 7

At You have to dislinguish, I cannot speak For the Jews who lived under Russian
rule wntil 1919,

.7 Ho, your Jews, The Galicians,

Gt Germesn, Theve was no gueation about it,

Tk the Warsaw Jews would choose Polish,
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BR  Now, the younz generatlon, among out Jews, those whowent to gymnazie, who
broke away fram JewlshOrthodoxy and so on, and came into contact with the
secular,,,they of course, hecame assimllated with the Poles, because there
were no Germans, eXcept here and thers.,.

IR You're talking about in Galicia.

KR In Galicia, Here and there, o0ld clvil sexrvnats, In order {o assimllate, you
have to assimilate to something. So when I started in gymnagle, my friends,
if they wers assimilated,/::gmg;zzed to Polish, Their langusge became Polish
not German,

IB I know, Now which were the Jews that would choose German? Amongst the Polish
Jews?

NR In Galicia you mean?

IB Yes,

NR Well, not theys..

I3 1 mean whose affinity,.,chausa you say in your home thers wers German books,
¥as that looked upon as/ggfa:thmg, outside, something to aspire to and admire.

NR There®’s no guestion that in the eyes of Gallcian Jews, Germar culture was super-
ioxr to that of Polish,

LB 0,K, 0,K.

NR But, the Germans were not thexre, So thoy assimilated to the nearest, For instance
now, my father wasn®t assinilated, He wasg an Orthodox Jew, Bui he knew about
Schiller. He nover heard about Slovatsky and Slenkiewicz, who were the Poles...
or Miszkiewicz for that matter. Meybe later on, when we were at the gymnazie
he heard from me or from the books that I brought home, But in our home, our
houss, there were no Pollsh books, The only non-rellgious books, secular,books,
wore German,

1B How lmisr on, did you read,..d1d you read the Russians? Did you read Dostosvsky,
did you read Tolatoy, did you read Pushkin?

NR Well, we did, But no, they were not on the prioxrity list. Keybe if you tock a
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course in llterature, Dostosvesky was mentioned...

I'm taking into account the Polish-Russian feeliung,

Our veading was Sienkiewicw, Slovatsky, Hiscskiewlog, Raymont (#) who later
on won a HNobel prize for his writing and well, I don't recall reading...

The Russians,

Hell, in generel, I'a not a literaxry man in this sense. I wvas never enanmored
in literature and that®s why I majored in economics and/{i.:g;;ture only to
the extent that it was a required course, And if you reach Macgill, ny coming
to Canada, I have an interesting story to tell you although,,,

No, we'll wait, I want.s.

We may never reach it,

That®s all right. At some time we®ll rsach it, ¥Was there also in your village,
during this time,,..in the time of the war years, between 1914 and 1918, or
in Sambor, 4id you also experlence at this time, cholexa, typhus, typhoid and
all that?

be~

No. No, The discases that/cems rampant,..we didn®t have cholera, Typhus,

You did have typhus,

And smallpox,

Smallpox.

Yos, My sister had smallpox, Typhus, Typhus probably killed, I don®t know, in
town, the doctor died. The doctor's wife died,

Now typhus is a lice bomme disease, right?

lice borne. The first thing that I remsmber when an American medical mission
after the war was over, am American medical miazslon came to our region, the
first thing they did with the help of the local health suthorities was to take
all the clothing people had and put them in boilevs, and boll thenm because
of the lice, Typhus was very bad., And in the cily people were 6 little bit
weakened by malnutrition, During the war they didn®4 have enough to eat and
in the village, we 4id but in town we didn't, I remember when I was in gymnaszl
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in 1916, how carefully we had to slice our btread, I brought from hone,

We had 1o make it last longer than usual, If we came to ea%t in the restanrant,
T often had that hot meal, in the restaurant, in the coffes shop. You had
bring your own bread,

You didn®t have a menzer?

Not in gymnazie, no. In the university, The gymnazie ¢idn°t have it,

Is there anything aboul the war years that left any particular 1ﬁpression upon
you? Because you lived through that whole tinme,

In s way, you would be amazed how little the war touched young pecple, Klds,

Yo knew of course, we saw piractically every week, ws heard that & regiment or
a battalion/ﬁzgczraining ln Ssmbor, left for the war, BEecause muslc was playin
and there was & parade, patriotic songs were sung aml s0 on, And when we were
free, we attended 1t, S0 we knew tut you did not connect that asomo of thesa
pecple would be dead.

And one thing,..you did not actually starve,..

No, but we didn’t eat enough, Well I wag bettsr off than some of the others,
because wa had the farm,

Now was thers @iough coal to heat the gymnagle?

They didn®4 have coal, They heated ih with wood,

Was thexas snough wood to heat? Some places were closed because there wasn't
enouzh woed or fuel,

Well, foresis were not very far from, we had forests all around,,.

So things were not so disrupted that you cowldan't get wood for heatlng,

No, not at all, The fact is, somo people lived poorly. They lived poorly tefoxe
the war and they hungered a little bit,.,not im the literalsense, but not
enough of a varlety of food, They lived on potatoes and Bmaad.auﬂery fouw
faxllies, for instence, had meat every day, BEven Jewish families had meat

only onos a week, Shabbos, Or fish. Now we were better off in this sense,

matarially better off. Flrst we had the farm and my fathor was engaged in
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business and sonretimes he lost Wi sometimes he made money, So thers was
never a problem, Another source of Income for the fanily that I dldn®t mene-
tion, there were so nany,..w& had & schank,..s tevern, Now, the tevern, duvring
the year, during the ten months of the year,,.a fow of our customers were poor
peazants; alcoholics and sometimes we had rouble with them when they cams,
They started drinking Friday night and drank until all day Sunday. Sometimnes
their wife cams and made trouble, HWe had a lot of trouble., But they didn't
bring in much incoms, Baroly enough, But this busineas érproved a let during
surrer months, Not because the rebbs came with the Hesldiw, They didn®¢ drink
elther, But our area was an area designated for mllitary maneuvres and evsry
sumner about a thousand soldiers or so, moved into our village and ad jolngng
villages and they went to excercises,.,.and they spent a lot.,.officers, and
in cash, money, they spent it on drinks and we supplﬂ.ed/:izgg, you know,
bread ard cheeses and herring..,and at the end of this season, when they
1eft; azound September, we were usually lef{ with about, ..l renember once,
because thm aﬁn’t g0 1o the bank to deposit your money. The banks didn't
exist,. .50 you took the money that you took In and you put it away, somewhere
in a safe place, S0 and then after this was over, you counted it,,.everything
that was left after you paid for the supplies, And we had about a thousand
kronen, which was about...the duying power of a kronen was alrmost eguivalent
to a dollar, So that was a lot, It helped out, So in a sense, I never experi-
enced hunger. But because I wasn®t home during the,,.becsuse 1t was faxr,
I couldn®t reach there, not even once a week, transportation was poro, So
we felt a 1ittletit of the 1917 and 1918--tighten the belit, But never t0...

1B DBut the war also eanded before you were aligible for allitary service,

NR Just about. I appeared hefore a draft in May, I was Just twrned, in June
1918, I turned eighteen, So around April they called me, in Yiddish you say
a » for a commission, a doctor, a militaxy doctor had %o examine

ne, And not only me but also the others colleagues in the gymazle, The last
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year of gymnuzie, And they found us physically |

Jaws were scared of that word,

SRSy
A8 Sholem Aleichem{ Toigen, toiger.
So the word was & very bad word, At any rate we were all tauzliclt

Bnt because we still had a few months to go before the end of gymazei, to
finlsh gymasie, they wanted people that had finished gymnazie, Because if you
finlghed gymneszie and you had matura, you were taken asd imwediately sent to
an officexr®s school, And after a year you were a Kadet,

In the first war you had a stripe here to 1lndicate, Considering that very few
people finished gymnazle,,.probably less than one per cent of the people, If
you msrched with a battalion of peasants® sons, mostly illiterate, barely
finished a year or two of elementary Bchoolf.anngzyhzgwﬁhat:so they knew

that you were of the elite; you could bhe a lawyer, a doctor, & xich nen’s son
and 50 on. S0 they let us go to finish gymnazie,

I3 How the war cnded in Novembar,

NE The war ended in November and by that time the Austrian Hungarian Empire fell
apaxrt, And we had & Ukrainian government foxr six months,

1B ¥hen was this please'

NR That was,,.when Austrlan Hungarlan emplre fell apart, we were in a periocd of
Inter-regnum, I never appreclated so much my historical lessone about the fall
of the Roman Ewplre, How does an empire fall? Well we saw an empire fall
befdre our vexry eyes,

1B Could you tell me about it?

NR VWell, the inkling, the first iInkling that we had was that we saw officers,
Anstrian officers stopped by soldiers,/:ﬁgf tore their epaultettios,

LB By their own soldiers?

NR By their own soldlers, That was around September,

LB Septembsr 1918,

HR September, yea, Then we hesxd,,.now the Press was very controlled, We Aid not
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have a feeling that Austria snd Cexmany are loslng the war. He thought that
We are winning the war, And th external signs were all in favor of that
point of vilew, Because there was not a single enemy on German and Austrian
territory but the Germans and the Austrliane were in Warsaw and they were
near Paria, France, They wers always in occupled texrritoriss., They occupled
part of Italy, So technically, they were wlnning., But thelr resources gave
dut. Because Amerlca came in in 1917 with fresh materiel, with fresh supplles
and the Germans and the Anstirlans fought with the last of resources, S0 it
came &s a shock, Now, the flrst revolution or overthrow that took plane was
in Budapest whers the Tiszo, Tihzo government.,,Tiszo was the Hungerian noble~
man and he was a Gexman noblemsmn and A representative of the dual empire and
he was overcome by a governument led by Karoly, Karly Karoly, Xaroly vas a
leftist liberal, He was the Kerengky of Hungery, A weakling and after a fow
months he was displaced by the Bela Kun Communist government which lasgted
about four, five months, Now, to come back to my gymnazis. You 82¥,440

You were telling me about how 1t fell apaxrt, I wanted you to tell ms this,

Well, a1l right, So we saw, we began seeing armles, nobe of Bussiun war
prisoners, Because they simply opened the gates and, Go, There were two nillion
Russian wer prisoners in Austria, And there were no facilities whatsoever for
thelr systematlc re~transport, Everything stopped, Trains were abandonsd, by
the conductors and by the engineers,

Austrian tralns,

Austrisn trains. 30 the soldiers, sometimes, those who came home, brought thelr
guns with them, The war prilsoners secured them, Because the Austrians left thei;
armories open .,.s80 they used, sometimes, by force, they got = held, grabhsd
engineers, rallroad engineers aud they made up trains, And thoy, =n magse, they
filled tho trains and started on the way back to Russia, Soma, most of them by
foot, On foot., And they were subject to all sorts of disecases, And we finally

oxganized groups of young people to pick up the corpses in the moxning, of
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Mussian war prisoners,

And this 1is all before ihc war was officially over,

The war,..thzre was no offidal ending,

Ch, one thing went into the other,.,.

There was no official ending., The Austro Hungarian empire didn't collapse in a
way that one day the government in Vienna said, We're collapsing. It doesn®t
tappen that way, What happened was that there was no government, in inter-regnum,
And because of the looting and the pillaging and the feaxr of mobs of war prison-
ers, Rugsian wayr prisonexs who were hungry and they hbroke into peasants homes
for food, &nd then, then even the local soldlers who left the armerles and the
garrisons and went home, Some of them brought their own guns./?g was really a
period of lawlessness which was fearful and inspired a great dsal of fear, so
withing & few weeks we organized self defense groups,

Now this is in Galleila,

This is In Galicia, In our vlllage, for instance, I took a gun, although I
didn*t know how to shoot a gun and I guarded, walked back and forth on the
road with two others, 20 as to be a detérrant at least,

S0 you were not then in Sambor?

No, I came back, Decause school was closed, So we came home and withing a few
waeks, many of the Ukyrainlan soldlers who came home, the young people...

Back?

Back, And brought their guns, they began to oxganize., And there was already a
nucleus of a Ukrainian Nationallest group. For instance,; one of my teachers
becane the chief, general of the Ukrainlan army;..Hachievichhe was an officer
in the Austrian army...

What's his name?

Machievich. He taught Ukrainien. It's very intevesting, He

became the commander and I knew him well and he had sort of a liking for me

because I spoke Ukrainian well, coming from a Ukrainian village, So unlike
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the Jewlish kids who came fror town, who knew Ukrainkn only what they learned
from the book...But there was a great deal of lootlng, And finally they or-
ganized a local Ukrainlan republie, Zakhidna Ukraingka Republika, Western

To
Ukrainilan Republic,/Distinguish from Petlura’s, Because in Russia Petlura had

the central Ukralne, There were about three and a half million people and thely

wers in
capital was ILyov, But the Poles,/the majority in Ivov and the Poles and the

Jews made up the majority, The Jews declared themselves neutfal and they got
hit from both sides, Ukrainians,,.,¥Why don®t you stick with us? We have the
majority of the people, And the Poles, ond this was the first pogrom I think
that took place in the former Austrian territory, in Iwvov., They say about

two hundred or so Jews were killed., Now some say 1t wasn't a pogrom, It was
fighting, Fighting started between the Ukrainlans and the Poles over possessior

of Lvov, And In the course of the fighting a large number of Jews were killed,

IB Now what year was this?

VR That was in 1918, 1919, I think December or November,..right after the collapse

NR

NR

of the ompire, And the Poles chased the Ukrainians out of thelr capital, So
the Ukrainians withdrew, reorxganized, transferred the capital to Stanislawau
which is fuxther east,; and for about,,.and organized a front lineg ecast of Lvov
and we were about, the line was,..ws were atout thirty nllesk from that
Ukralnian front line against the Poles, We were on the Ukrainian side, The
U;rainians started to organlze the goveinment, with a parliament. There was
an election to parllament, They had thelr own currencyl their own stampS.e.

Now this is all within Polish territory, This is separate from the Fegluvas.
Right?

This 1is all within Galician territory., Esstern Galicia.

And separate from Petlura,

Yos, Separate from Petlura, And the negotimtions, however, started batween the
western Ukralnlan government with the Petlura government about a wnion, 2luka,

becanse they realized they were only three and a half million people, The Poles
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Taid claim to that perritory right away. They chased them out of Lvov
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of their cspital,.. (Md of Tape)
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and the Ukrvainlans opened the gymnazium in Sambor, under the new roglme,
Polish teachers fled, weikt into hiding or ran away to Jjoin the Polish

front, Polish troops. Polish youmgsters, seventeen, elghtesn youngsters,
digappearad ateo tent inte hiding or ran away to join the Polish milltary
umits, We were only.about tweniy seven mlles away.

What did the Galiclen Jews do?

The Galiclan Jews stayed in school, We stayed in school and the teachers, the
Jawigh teachers, stayed in school, continued to teach and the Ukrainian
teachers continued to teach. So of course the school population dropped by
cine third and they began, the Ukrainians began lnsistlng on the language of
instruction begin Wkrainlen, That led to all serts of trouble. Because °
for instance we had & teacher of msthematlcs, Finkelsteln, he was a Jew,

He didn®+ know enough Ukrainian, And he wasn‘t a very good teacher of matho-
matics to begin with, And he was, we laughéd at him beceuse of his mispro-
nmciation of words, The Ukralnian students ridiculed him, langhed at him
ceo®t 2ny Tater, theras wasn't much teachning done, And then, in May, the
Poles oxganized an offensive, They chased; they desiroyed the Ukrainiem army
and the Ukrainlan army fled and dispersed and most of them croszed the new
berder of Czechoslovakia, Because Czechoslovakla,..

So they venit west, not east,

They went south,

#8 Southwest,

That®s right.

They did no. go toward the Soviet Unlon,

No, They did not, Maybe some did, The Soviets at that time,,.,

But there wasz also an invaslaon from Peglura,..
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Wo. The invaszion was,...the Soviet government invaded Poland, But that wes 2

different story.

1B That was after?

NR That was afier, By that time our Ukrainlan republic was already dead and this

Machieivch fled too, He fled to Prague first and then I heard that he fled to
Bucharest, He committed suicide there, a few yeara later. But the intereating,
ny intersstlng enounter with Machievich was, after the Ukrainian government was
organized there was no discipline, These soldiexs, they cams back from the

war and they salid, This is our cowntry, So What. And they pillaged androbbed
and it was very bad. So my father sald, look, Machlevich l1a the chief comman-
der. And he wasz a few miles from our towm, Why don®t you go and talk to him?
So I sadd, I°11 go, And T did go and T locked him up and I talked to him,

His said, look here. I know what the situwation is, But suppose they discobey

ne, 1 can*t risk it.

LB He sald,

NR He said, To bulld a discipline and tried, in your own army...in thd now situa-

tion where you are constantly exposed to Pollsh atiacks and among the Ukrain-
ians too, there were some psople who were mggers and riff raff, And he said,
I'n sorry I would like to do that, There is nothing I cen do, Maybe in time,
Af we establlsh our forces and our mllitia and msanwhile oOrganize self defense
in the village, And well, somebody will get hit, we just can®t help 1t, That’s
all, This is the answer I got from Machievich, which is the last time I saw

him and later on I heard that he...
independ:

LB You know, this is the first time I%ve heard about a Galician-Ukrainian/republic,

NR ©Ch yes, Zakhidna Ukralnska Repulika and the first preszldent was Petrushevich,

And the money unlt was o .kxddnya; The currency, And... 1t lasted not more than
Then

s1x months,/Ths Poles occupled our area and there was some trouble, tension,.

they suspected some of the Jews had collaborated with the Ukrainians, He were

expelled from gymazium, I told you, All Jewlsh students who were ready for
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No, this vou didn't tell me. I thought you had already taken maturas,

No, No, We wore duc to take matura In June,

What year?

In June 1919,

Oh, the year following the end of the war,

That®s right, But by that time the Ukrainians had been for a itime and then the
Ukrainlans fell apart and the gymnazium closed, And when it reopened in Septem{
ber, we were told, even before, we were told that we were not eligivie for E
maturs because we were expelled from gymnazium for disloyalty to the Polish
republic, And the act of going teo an Ukralnlian school and maybe taking an oath;
of allegiance, I don®t remomber, disqualified you, We're sorry. You're not

eligible, for readmission and if you want to passg the miura you have to re-
sort to the extern device.

So what did you do?

wEdid, Wa became externs, And thers were eighteen of us and we started in the
summer of 1919, we slarted an organized self stuly courses, And anong our
group, we were about elghteen, elghteen Jews,..Sure the Poles, the Ukrainians
fled, because most of the Ukrainians were in the army and the Poles were re-
&dmlitted, They had no problem., They had no trouble, So we organized gelf
study groups. Now in this group we had a number of people who excelled in
various arsas, We had a young man who was & matehematical genius, Winckler,
He's now in the West. Joseph Winckler, Yusif Winckler, He was/ziceptional
mathematiclan, So much so that in the fourth year of the gymsazium he was
exempt from attending any more clasges forlthe rest of the four years be--
couse he knew as much as the teachers, Now tﬁis Winckler came, he was taken

away Lo Russia and he was sent here as aun expert, oil expert for the Polish

Comminist government and he defected with his whole staff in Wahhlngten,
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and became an Amerlcan citizen., He lieved in this city and now he’s in
the West. Well;, so we had him. Then we had a man who was an excellent
scholar of Greek and 'atin, See we had Greek and latin, His name was Menachen,
Stein, He was later on Frofessor of Classical,.,..Anclent History., in a Jawish%
teachers college in Warsaw, le was killed by the 4Mazls, I saw him in 1937, |
He was oldex shan we were, lio was a Yeshiva bucher. He nover atténded gym-
nazle. bocauge his father wouldn®t let him go to gymuazie because of Shabbos,
S0 he knew how to study on your own, he's a lifo long Yeshiva buéher. 80 he
coached those who.were weak in Grek or letin,In the matura you had to take
only one language, elthex Greek or latin and then we had sohe people who were
good in other subjects, We had a very good tesm, We all passed, A few, aboul
twc or three passed...
The matura was given where?
In Sambor,
and they imporxted the professors,
Well, there wore one or two locals but they also sent from Wersaw
It was a very tough, stiff examination., And I was good in languages, both 4n
1atin and Greek, I was not good in mathematics,..l mean not to excel, I always
passed, But I had a certaln amount of satisfaciion. My teacher of Iatin and
Greek was & man by the name of Sdiak,.S0liak, He was a Ukrainian who hod
assinilated, He had assimllated to Polish., We all Iknew that he was Ukrainlan
tut he didn®t want to be known as Ukrainian, 80,..he wag also an alccholic.
Not bad, not a bad teacher. He was very ruch embarrassed, Of the elghteen,
all of them; I think, at the beginning chose latin,for the matura. Bscause
Iatin 1s easier. Groek i a very tough language., 5o he was vexy much smbar-
rassed bacause he was teachlng malnly Greek. Almo Iatin, Now he thoughi this
was a feflection on his tesaching and so before the exem, I knew him from the
gyohazie days. For a few years he was By teaeher/%g é§Z§§f ind I sven had

one run-in with him, I had a very good memory, I didn’t bvother to take down
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and write down all the new words that you lesrned, Bocause 1 remenbered

them, I'm a very sloppy bookkeeper. I depend too much on my memory, my

notes and go on, Sometimes it costs me a lot of time, I look for a foot

note for hﬁurs without taking the troubtle of wxiting it down. I would have
saved myzelf trouble., So one day he came In, when we cane back from Budapest
and school reopeneds...lt was a two session school because one bullding was
taken over by the army, So there was a session in the moruing from seven

t111 iwelve and from about twelve thirty to five. We wexre assigned to the
afternnon session, So/ﬁgecﬁ;gs in to the lesson in Greek or Iatin and he says
All your notebooks, you sheuld put your notebooks on the desk, He goes from
one to student to student to student...them/:zﬁzt twenty five in the class
or 8o, looks whether the words were properly, the words from the last lesson,é
the now words, were properly entered in thoe reglster with thelir Polish equivaf
lent and he comes to re,.i have no notebook, I have nothing. So I had to lie
vory quickly, I sald, Professor, I just left it at home., I forgot, COf course é
I know them, I can ®mcite these words, If I have them in my mind I certainly
put them down on paper, So he locks at me, How far do you live from here?

So what®s the probvlem? It’s & small town, And I lived in the main square,
market square, 1 sald, Maybs seven, eight, ten minutes walking, He said,
Well, suppose 1 give you permission to leave class and go home and bring it.
Iz gewm tsuris, So on the way I stopped and hought a notebook. And fortunate-
iy when I came home,..We were roomers with a lady, not the same lady., Pani |
Mishlova, very nlce woman too, She had a daughter, a teenager also in gymnazi
also, 4nd they went in morning session. And another girl from another town
who waz a roomer and two boys, 1t happened, by chance, the boys went in the
afternoon and I was in the afternoon, They were in the morning session and
they were home, Well, I modilized them quickly, You sit down and write quickl

doun woxds, from a week at least, back, I lcan say, I don't have to have from

the begirving of the session 1f the notebook expired, it finished, and both
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of thom,,.And don®t use the same ink, Use one day one ink and another day
and so on,

LB You don’t need confrontation with thiskind of a mind,

NR. Anyhow I xan quickly, out of breath, I xan to school, And Panl Mishlove was
not at home, And I had no key and I couldn®t get in, And so, I couldn®t break
in, No, He suspected that 1'm 1yihg. He looked at mes..

1B He wouldn't have sent you home otherwlse,

NR 8o he sald, Well, when do you think she®ll be home? Well, she®ll be home by
five o'clock because she knows school is over, I come home, I have to get in,
He says, All right, Ii's five o'clock, You go home and I live not very far
from you..two blocks or three blocks from the school bullding, You can come.

I give you permission to come and knosk at the door/ziizioitlt to me, So, by
five o*clock with an hour and a half gone, I ran home and there were six,
eight pages were written, And I came and showed 1% to him and he said, Well,
all right we®ll let it go at that, I was a very good student, I always had th
highest grades fromhim, Now when thls matura time came, it was about two years
later and everyhody chose laiin and he felt hurt and he called me aside and he
said, Reich, this is what they called, not by fizrst name but by last...Relch,
How about you choosing Greek instead of Latin, I sald, Well I thought of it,

I haven't made up my mind, And I was very flattered. He says; Why do youces?
. He said, Well,,.otherwise they will think the whole subject of Greek was neglec-

ted, and there 1ls a commiszgioner, a representative from the Warsaw ministry
of education and so on. So I said, 0.K, 1%*11l take Greek., So I took Greek, Thi:
is how it happened.

LB 8o you passed the matura.,

NR I passed the matura...

1B Then, what happened to you?

NR Then when I came home, I told you about that night. There were two thingz that

hurt me very much, After you pass matura, it is a sort of tradltlon that you run

home and put on your civilian suit, Because otherwlse you have to be in uniform,
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EBven on the sireat, If they caught.you on the street, not in school uniform, you
were penaligzed. So you pass the matura, Then you go home and you come back the fol-
lowing day or two days later, to be told whether you passed 1t or not, Now most
people already come to that meeting where the principal announces that you pass,

and he shakes hands, with everybody, many of them came already with their new pults,
ties and I didn®t have a suit. And my father never even thought of buying a sult,
or, the whole thing, I never even told him about these things. It would have been
strange the whols thing, So I was sort of left out, I felt bad., And the second thing
the train that took me home was an early -meinivcg traln. I arrived at four o'clock
in the morning, at the railroad station. We were about five minute walk from the
railroad atation, I knocked at the door. My mother came to the deoor, Nute, Nute,

So I said, Opsn the door, and I kissed her haind. This was the custom,.eto kilss the

hand of the mother, and then she sald, Shoin fartiz mit der matura, So ny mother's

reaction was Wpgokimmen? Gut, Upgekimmen mneans Pute;_gevorn.(Tb be rid of scmtething

That was the only recognition that I got for passing the matura and I passed it with
distinction, Well, I atill have my gymnaziwa reporis,

IB You know, Jack Koenlgsbexg still has his.

NR I have the elomentary and the,..

LB  They were very important,

HR Well than I began,..of course I knew,..this around September and I knew,..

LB You were in 1919 now,

NR ‘That was 1919, And I knew that lemberg lniversity is out, Decause I did not volun
teer for the Pollsh army, The Polish government had no right to take us because
eastern Gallcla was a disputed territory.

LB It st411 was? ‘

NR 3 Until 1924, later on the Poles lgnored it, Bul at that time the league of Nation:
was still important and Wilson was still in Paris and the Pgles needed American ald

s0 they respected it, And they, in the rest of Poland they drafted people, That part
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of eastern Gallcila, they had no right to draft, However, nobody could stop you
from volunteering, All the Poles volunieered and many of the Jewlsh studenta volun-
teered because that gave them the right to ebter the university, And I didn't want
to volunteer, So that was cut, I was not prepared to wenture and smuggle out of the
country, illegaly. Partly, my parents were veyy muchepposed to it. I didn't want
to cause them additional,,.besides X had no money,

So, I began looking for ads, We had, In the Jewlsh-Polish neusp&per;'that is the
Jewlsh paper published in the Polish language, Khvida,

LB Vhat was the name? ngéggﬁ

NE Khvida, Means the moment. There was a Yiddish paper called Moment, And they
used to run ads where people who lived in villages, wealthy people, like Jewish
landowners for instance, who had children and who couldn®t send them to school,

Far away, or they were problem chlldren, so they were looking for private tutors,
And I read aun ad that a man/gizznow...

LB Rimanow? And that's in Galicia?

NH That®s in CGelicia, yes. It's in western Galicia, I forgot the name of the man,,.
that they're looking for ,..and I meiled them a card, that I'm avallable, I have
matura, I kve tutorial experience, and so on. So I got the job. It was a young boy
who was slightly retarded, And I stayed there for room and board and some monthly, !,
and I stayed there.,.l could have stayed a whole year, But after six months I got
restless, Boring and nothing to do and that kid Just didn't,,.dumdb kid, you know,
And then I was beginning to formulate plans about leaving Poland, by hook or by
crook, S0 I atayed there until March, I left in March, And I came home, My mother
wag very upseb, vwhen I came howe, because the typhus epldemic was at its worst,.

in the village, Far vusHa du gekimmen? Du shtaxbsn menshen, Zug ich, Dorten

shtarben oich menshen, Rinanow also had it, but not as bad, And I stayed during

the summner doing nothing and I hegen spinning plans about leaving.the coumtiry,
And in, arcund Septembor, I got five dollars in my pocket, My father picked up some

ind I put it in my heel {of thé shoe) ard I went closer to the Carpathian moun-
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{ains. Closer to the former Hungarian border, which now was the Czmecheslovak
#npdaor, Because Czechoslovalkla occupied out of Austrian,..

LB 8o you went southwesi?

HR That's right,

L8 You went toward Prague essentially.

KR 4¥ell, I went to the Hungarian boxder, Prague is further north, And near the bor-
der, through local people, because this wasn't far fyom the place where ny brother
married into, I got a guide, A Pessant, a young peasant who knows how to smuggle the
border, who knows how to avoid the Pélish...

LE He nmust have had,,.there must have beén so many people doling that...

NR Well, yes, But the Cerpathian mountains are big mountaing., You can get lost,

And 1 st&yed.over night and in the morning I got this gulde and he was 2 nice man,
We walked for abouti elghteen héurs, 1n the mountains and the hills and the vallaeys.
You don't see, of course, a living person, or cattle, nothing, Aud we came to a
hill,seI had some food with me. 4nd my father told me that there is a man by the
nsne of Shapire who lives in a town ten miles on the other side of the border.

Mow Czechoslovakia,

18 Now, this was already Czechoslovakis then?

NE  Well, my father told me, when you get to that village, ask for Mr, Shapiro...
Harey Shapiro, My father used to do trade dealings with Shaplro. You tell him thuet
you are 3holem Relich's son, he will take care of you, Because I had no hope of

sooner or
reaching Prague, by walking. You know,/later you have to {ake & train, ind if you
take o train, there are inapections, Soldiers came in, you have to
show a pessport, You have to show & birth certificate. And I didn't bave it, I had
1t, but they were no gocd. S0 he sald, Just get there., Once you cross the border and
get to Shapiro, he wlll do everything, So I crossed the border and I came to
Shapiro, dead tired and covered with mud and he was & very nice man and he received
me well, He geve me a chance, I washed up, And they gave me supper. And he sald,

‘Tomorrow morning, you go io the military commander, Lietenant So and So, He's a
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good friend of nine, And you tell the lieutenant that I sent you and he'll give
you o shepousha, A shepouska means a plece of paper which authorizes you to travel,

LB A traevel permit,

NR Travel permit, So I was very delighted and I got up at ten o'clock, nins, ten
p’clock, wahsed up, shaved and 1 go to the military conmender to present myself
there, S0 by luck, or ill-luck, they changed lieutenants, There was another lleu-
tenant, He said, I don®t know My, Shapiro. What, who zre you? Where were you born?
What are you doing? hHow did you get here? At first I tried to bluff my way out be-
cause the local people's language was also Ukralnian there, That part of Czechoslo-
vakis is inhabited by Utrainians, Carpatho-Ukraines.But I could not lie my way out.
And then I tried to zay that I was caught here durlng the ¥ar, and during the war
it was one country, Austria-Hungary, so I haveno papers. But after afew ninutes of
intenslve questloning, I Just told the lieutenant the story, J crossed the border
41legaly and I want to go to Prague to study. But that didn‘f lmpress him, And the
Poles at that tims,...the CQsechs at that tlme had hed an account with the Poles bhe-
cause they clalimed the disputed territory of Silesia, The Foles claimed that this
is theire and,..so they hated the Poles, They sald Pilsudskl and Hsller are our
enenies and they want to mutilate Czechoslovaklia and I sald, Look, I'm not in poli-
$len, fAnd Never mind and they pui me in the pelice, in a cell with a few others and
& wonan prostitute and right away, the first thing I did is write my name on the wall
Bocause I sew a lpt of names of people there, the first thing. And that brought some

smugegl)
reosults, Decanse after I was released and they brought me home, under guard, fQVthe

bordelsso

1B You mean you were sent back to Galicia then? To youxr village?

‘A I was sent back to the Czeck border and the (Uzech border handed me over to a
Polish patrol and,I,wggj/£§g§622 Rosh Hashana to our‘town. And it just so happened
that my father, all the pecple were going from shul and T come with a..,well, at

any rate, after I vested up, & few wesks later, I got a passport that wasn’t



Hathan HRelch Side B Pe 97 LB

entlrely kosher but at any rates, I had some paper to show, I tried it again, this
time I went throvgh and I came o Prague, After I had bheen in Prague for about two
weeks I met 2 colleague of mine who was in the Ukralnisn army

He was in class with me, lnschool,

LB In gymnazium?

NE In gymnazium, And after the collapse of the western Ukraine republic where he
wag an officer, he fled to Prague, Oh, he says, what are you doing here? How did you
get out of that jail? So, how do you know that I was in Jail? He says, Well, I saw
your nane, He also wag arrested, but since he was & member of the Ukrainion army the
(zechs respscted and treated him and they released him and they, later on they es-
tablished a Ukreinlan university in Prague for many of these lkrainian students,
For a number of years. I don't know what happened to it later, And that®s how I
got to Prague, I Just wanted to say a fes things about tho gymnaziuvm, People confusc
it to some extent, or thsy compare it with the high school, Well, first of all, in-
tellectually it was much more demanding./gﬁezzf Iatin every day. Slx days a week
Iatin, Six days a week Greek, German, Ukrainlan, history, zoology, botany, physics,;
chemlstry. It was inferior, perhaps, in the sense that we had no laboratories, to
spaak of, And io study chemistry without laboratories is very unproductive, so to s:
The socond difference is that we had no, hamdly any, extra curricular activitles, |
Sehool was over and you wers on youxr own, that led to the organization of a great
deal of political actlvity. Cultural and political activity among the students, On
their own, So the Poles had thelr ¢ircles and thedr scouits ard they had marches and
they had conferences and they]ﬁggﬁes and 80 on. The Ukrainians probably had it too,
And the Jews ovganized, Thal's how we orxganized the Jewish boy scout movement
whizh you call Hashonmer Hatselr, And we developed parallel to the class work, afier
one or two o'clock, we developed a 2 network of classes, Hebrew clesses and Jewish
history, excerclises, Sunday marches, physical healthactivity. And all financed by
our own meager contributions, And we had an organization of about three, four hun-

dred, . « LYFnazium students, Also stulents from the commercial high school and
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we oreoanted like a home away from home, The fact is that from the point of view

of 1mpoxtance, we attached more importance to extra curricular activities. life
began at two o*clock, School you had to sit through, suffer through and do your
best, And this was a very, very lmportant, I think probably a great deal of édevel-
opnent or independence may betxraced to this fact, I'm a strong belisver that too
much guidance is a negative factor, is a liability, And Americans Just excel in
guidance, They just guide you to death, We never had & guldance counselor in high
seho0ol, The first time I heard of 1% was over here, On your own! You'll make a mis-
vake so you'll learn from the mistake, Whon I was in Hunter (College) avd I was ale
ways apposed to mandatory courses...required courses, in principle almoste.,

i3 But you had so many in gymazium,
KR Of coursed But...in gymoeszium,,,all were requirved courses,
g7
NR I know, But not at the university, you see, In high school at that time, we
could not. The only cholece, there were some cholees, for instance, people could
get exempt from Greek, if they chose pharmacy., A pharmacist doesn®t have to know
Ureek, I don®t know why. A lawyer hes to know Greek, But pharmscy is usvally chosen
by students who wers too weak to carxy the full program, Intellectually weak,
Druggists, to make pills and so on, But otherwise, you had to take,., the intellec-
tual part of the program was very taxing,
LB But what I alsc hear is that you maintained these friendships well on indo.later
life,
HR  Well, in my case, that was not posslible bscause we dispersed,

LB But even so, if you hear, you remember,,,but if you asked me about people from
Hunter I don't remember,..I vomember one person,
Nk Thatt®s right, That was too big an institution.-hfter 811 the high school had, at
the most three hundred, three hundred and fifty students.
1B I expect there was a different atmosphere, You were living with them all the

time, And there was no family..,
HR We did not have diversion, There were no movies, no television, no radlo, no
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canp,...in summer, going to camp. Inu had to be on your own, In summer we had to
dlevlse our OWR wee
(Tape off)
Side 9 Q00
Ht In Humter, at commitiee mectings I always tried to reduce the area of regulred
courses, It's true I reallize that the students who come here are not as mature, as
the students who went through gymnazlum, And there was a more selectlve group there,
it was only about five percents less than five percenit of elementary school kilds
ever reached gymnazliun, Here, practleally evexrybody goes to high school,
LB PNot at the time that I went, But now it%s true,
MR But, in general, my attitude was, Why don®t you let tk = students choose?
Well, they are not mature enough, They‘ll make a mistake, So they®ll make a nmlstake,
And they'll realize and they'll either drop cut of the course or do the best and
Buropean
stay to the end, and later on realize, Well, you have your/notions. This s a differ-
ent situation, Nowy, I think the fact that we were on our own, not merely in school,
bt after school hours,...that was a long day and a long weekend and evenings angd
thoy were £illed, Hot by piofessional entextaliners or by community action financed
by the Board of M, and 50 on, funded by this and funded by thet. On our own, We
paid dues, And we pald rent for ..a house that we rented, Student funds, And that
novse always hummed with activity. Bverybody hed to take Hebrew courses, an elemen-
taxy course in Jewlsh hlstory. And everybody had to take course in,..
LB  And this was all student organized?
NR All studnet orxgenized and it was headed by a group of people who were, perhaps,
in thelr early twenties, One of the leadexrs of our group was Professor Speigel.
1 don't know whether you know the name, Shohenm Spiegel, who is now emeritus, He
was professor...he migrated to Palestlne, He was professor at the Haife Technion,.
He was professor of Medieval and Hebrew Literature and he came here in the *30s
and was profeassor at the Jewlsh Theological Seminary. He was rotired a few years
agn, All the others are mostly all dead, A few of the members of the Hashomer
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Hatseir, are still living, in Israel, When I°m in Xsrael I visited them, And I
also write, 4nd a few months ago I got a letter from one whom I haven't heard
from in fifty years. Because he migrated to Argentina, And he lived a lifetime in
Axgentina, And when he vetlyed, I think he's well to do, he retired to Isrsel, So
when he came to Isreel, he met others of that group who were on kibbulzim and some
are still kidtutzim and so they gave him my address snd he wrote me a letter, In

Pollsh, Ahhh{ Uig. name was Bacher, So that's how it is,

LB I would like to ask you one more question becauss I won®t go to the end of this
tape., It wotld take us too long, In your own feelings, because you left before you
were really involved in political 1life in Poland, How do you feel about the Bund
and the pogition they took,

NR Well, the Bund haxdly existed in Galicia, The Bund was essentially,..so I had
no contact, ne personal contact,

1B No, I mean your feelings., Do you have any feellngs about it?

NR Well, I think that they were,,.0f course, I reject Marxiasm,

12 All right, but they took positions,..they were in confllct all the time over
the conflict between Maxxlism and Jewish natioralismm, Right? They were torn apart on
thiz issue,

H3 Yes, Well, they were In a sense, they were also nationalist, Theybwere in favor
of Yiddish as a Janguage and they called their philosophy that 1s
211 problems are to be solved and with this I agree, Because very
few poople believe that it's possible to transfer milllons and millions of Jews to
Palestine and if not for the Hitler tragedy, the Holocaust, Palestine would never
have bocome Israel, The yiahuv, the community in lPalestine would never have amounted
to more than several hundred thousand, Because the bulk of Immigration came after
the Hitler disaster, the several hundred thousand Jewzs who survived {0 go,

ind of course the Hitler disaster shook the confidence of all people, Jewlsh people
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wherover they lived,,.if it happened in Germeny, it*s possible to happen in
Iatin America., It's possible to happen in the United States, So that gave a new...
So, at the time, I think the overwhelming majority of people, asked, Do you think
that Palestine can absorb thrée million Jews from Poland, the answer was, No,

LB But thers was a Zionist oxganization,

HR There was. There wWas,

LB And they were acilve,

NR They were actlve, But you know, somebody defined a Zlonist. A Zionist is the
man who collectas money from other Jews so still other Jews should go to Israel,
There is a strong American Zionist movement but American Allyah amounts to nothing,
Very little. And Israel exists alfeady as a state. And compare 1t when FPalestine
was & 1little island of Jews among hostile Arabs and so on, So, I was never COlee
cerned with ldeological struggle of Bundist and lMarxist and so on, At that time, I
didn't even,,.I started to rezd ewonomic literature only when I was at the Universi-
e
L3 And you finizhed at Frague. Did you finish at the Unlversity of Pregue?

KR Ch, no, no, no, I waa there for & year and then I came back because I was already
preparing myself to go overseas, Now because the first thing that I did in Prague
was to Investigate possibllities of immigratlon, Prague was a big city, the capital
city, It had embassies and consulates from all over the world, practically. So, we
I began making inquiries,,..and there were a lot of Jews who were,..even professional
s+ ssthe professlon inwolved writing false passportS.ess but I was not
mterested In that so much, But I got hinis, where to go and so on, And the first
thing T did was I started to coax my brother from Poland to join me in Prague,
Fecauss in Prggue 1t's possible to have, it's possible 4o obitain visas, bargain for
visas, Ye couldn®t get a visa to Lthe United States because you needed an affadavit
trom a relative, Ve had poor relatives We didn"t bother, So after

zome time, my brother came to Prague. Well, there was some trouble, The passposrt

aas only for Czechosloakia but thexefore some of the enbasslies, the consulates, re-
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fused to give him a visa overseas, ‘bacause you had to have a passport qualifying
YOU, s oWell,; at any rate, that's a different story., And then, he finally got the
visa to Canada. And in Canada, he brought over my other brother who was in Buda-
pest and never canme homs, He was in a good job, but that Budapest had z Communist
regime and influence, so he didn't like it Bery much either, So he came home.for &
visit and got himsself a passport and joined my brother in Canada, And after the year
wes over, 1 decided I too will leave, There wag no point in continuing in Prague,
So I cane home and entered the Unlversity of lemberg. All the time, walting for
my brothers to establish themselvgs in Montreal, sc¢ they should be able t¢v send for
me, elther an affadavit or a steamship tlcket, And that took about a year, And nmy
father and mother just put up a strong flght sgalust my going. Using also tears,
and Vug vilst du? You're a bright boy, You can study, You can be a lawysr, You®ll

get guten naden, Ah volle bucher, Poland is still a country, And don't worry, And

where are you going? You're the youngest, you are our last one and where are you
going and,..My brother.,.Cne of my brothers died three years ago, in Montreal, And
his son looked through hls desk, And he found papers, letiers that I wrote from
Poland to hinm, going back to 1920, 1921. And amohg the letters I found a long letter
from my father. I nevér knew that he wrote that letter., My father was noi/a é:é::lar
letter writer, He didn't bother, And in that letter, I still have it..,.tears come

o my eyssi..where he pleads with Marcus and Harry, the names of my two brothers in

Hontreal, they should leave me alone. Vus velst du? Vus velst du_ - . ibhm nuch ba

mipr zumemnen? Thoge were the words, And of course, he knew, he heard, indirectly,

that they don't,,.zel habven zich nisht gemacht azol groise glicken, in Montreal,

The first year my brother washed dishes In a Main Sireet restaurant and the floors
and the other brother was selling newspapers at four o'clock in the morning in a
frogt, cold winter in Montreal, So it took them & year and a half before they collec
encugh money to pay for my steamshlp tickel, And befors my brother left, my father

norrowed two hundred dollars from 2 peasant who came from America to give it to

ny brother, And that saved him, Because in Paris he couldn't have gotten a visa
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without showing a Canadian visa,,.without showlng that he has enough, sfter he
bought a ticket, that he's got enough about a hundred dollars to live on before
s seahd also they wanted the name of.,.the steamship agent got a name,, he knew
somebody in Montreal, that steamship agent, and he gave his name that he 1s..»

an uncle, He turned out %0 bes a very nlce msn, In fact after & year, after my brothé
was washing dishes for a year, because he was a bank clerk, he was intelligent, he |
leaxned a 1ittle bit of Lnglish, so this Mirenberg from the steamship, gave him a |
Job, A clerk in hig office. And after a year, they began thinking of business, both
brothers, And Y helped them out from Pregue, sending them samples and so on, They
finally established an export--import business. which now employs about Sixty...so

a very nice man,

that Mrenbsre/gave them a corner in his office, they should have the begimning of

a sample room without any rent, That®s how they staxrted peddling samples among
slorekeepers...selling them and later on they rented a store and later on a whole
building, Now they have trouble, they're worried,..the French, with the vote,.,they
may move to (ntario, to Toronto. Well, they may leave half the business here and hal
in Toronto, They’re really very scared that a lot of the Jews will be,,.

IB Now this is if Quebec secedes, If the province of Quebec secedes from Banada,

NR Yes, So this shows how 1 hesitated, the pressure., Finally they sent me the ticket

énd I said, I'm golng, I zaid good-bye to father and mother, And meh hat gevehnt,

and 1 came to Lvov, to ILembexg, because Lembexrg was the office of the Cunard line,
from which I had the ticket, And I walked in and I walked out and I came home, I'm
not going, And I made up a story to save my, from embarrassment, I made up a story
that the ticket was not proper, I Bave to write back to Harry, in Montreal, But they
saw through it, I think, But they were very happy and 1 went back to ILembexz to con-
tinue with my studies, My sister lived in lembexg and I roomed with my sister, staye
with her, And a week before Christmas, I walked out on the street, on the way to the
niversityiess

LB What year iz this nod?

NR That's in 1922, Middle of December, There wes a poster saylng that my year, all



Nothan Beich 81ds 9 pe. 104 L8

people who were born in the year 1900 must present themselves for militaxy draft,
In spite of the league of Nations, The league of Natlons was powerless, When I

saw thats I called up my father, There was one telephone in the town, in the post
offPice, So you had to call the post office and they sent.a mesgsengex, So I called
my father and I sald, Tate...and I still had the passport and I still had the stean
ship ticket, I kept 1t as an insurance,..S0 when he heard thia, he said, 01, val iz

nir, Fur gezunerheld, He said, Ven darfst du avek furen? 5o I said, I have time to

stay two days heve.-I'm coming, Not mother.- So he took the train, came to town, to
Lembergy t0 the city, which is about an hour's ride, an hour and a half and seid

govd bye to me end vidder gevehut nuch and T was afrald thaet when the Polish govern

ment decided to Gefy the Lesgue of Natlons and draft the people, they will notify
the bonder stations that they should stop 21l the people of military age. {Phene
rings. Tape off. )
I3 8o you were afraid the borders would be closed. No,,.finish, Come finish your
whoxry.
NR $o I came to Warsaw, And the head office of the Cunard Idnes was in Warsaw, And
Warsaw, was sbtill ¢n the way to the border, A colleague of mine, from the gymnazium
was a clerk there, And a guids too, He took the immigrants from the
border to facilitate the formalltiies and so on, Izzik, I'm
And you're afrald nowf,
in troudle, And he already knew, He said, You went to go?/I don't know whether they
notified. He would ride to the border once or twice a week with groups of emigrants
S0 he satd, I will go with you and I will stay on this side, They may let you throug
If they don®t led you through, maybe I'1l be able to do something, He knew some
people, o he went with me...not with a reguiar group, Jjust myself, We came to the
border, he sivod on thls side. &nd I crossed the horder, and they stamped ifa..
n 1938 I wes attending a concert at lewishohn stadium ,,.and I never heard from th

guy again, I knew he went to Argentlina,.,indirvectly. When the concexrt was over
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and I walk out, somebody taps me on the shoulder.. I turned around, it was that
fellow, Hefs in Jexsey now, I don*t know whether he®s still alive,

IB I thank you,..very much,
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